Using a game-based screening for Mild Cognitive Impairment detection

Farnaz Koubasi

Ph.D. candidate in Rehabilitation Sciences

University of Alberta

Supervisor: Dr. Adriana Rios Rincon

Co-supervisor: Dr. Shaniff Esmail

18 August 2024

Table of Contents

1. Introduction	4
1.1 Background	4
1.2 Significance of this study	7
1.3 Research questions	8
2.1. Cognition	9
2.1.1 Definition and different domains	
2.1.2 Processing speed	
2.1.3 Attention	
2.1.4 Memory	
2.1.5 Visuospatial skills	
2.1.7 Language	
2.2 MCI	14
2.2.1 Definition, prevalence, and its classification	14
2.2.3 Brain structural and functional changes in typical aging vs in MCI	
2.2.4 Cognitive changes associated with typical aging VS MCI	
2.2.5 MCI diagnosis	
2.2.6 Advantages and disadvantages of cognitive tests	
2.2.7 Summary and gaps	
2.3 Digital technology for MCI screening	24
2.3.1 Digital technologies	24
2.3.2 Digital biomarkers	
2.3.3 Serious Computer Games and their classification	
2.3.4 The advantages and disadvantages of Serious Computer Games compare tests	
2.3.5 Serious Computer Games as screening tools for MCI	
2.3.6 Summary and gaps	
3. Method.	
3.1 Study design	
3.2 Participants	
3.2.1 Inclusion criteria	
3.2.2 Exclusion criteria	39
3.3 Sample size	39
3.4 Sampling strategy	41
3.5 Settings and Materials	41
3.5.1 Settings	41
3.5.2 Materials	41
3.6 Variables	42
3.7 Recruitment	45
3 & Data collection	46

3.9 Data analysis	48
3.10 Ethical considerations	5 ²
3.11 Limitations	52
3.12 Timeline	53
3.13 Budget	53
References	52

1. Introduction

1.1 Background

As global life expectancy continues to rise, the number of older adults also increase (1). The global population of individuals aged 65 and older is expected to surge from 761 million in 2021 to 1.6 billion by the year 2050, highlighting a significant demographic shift (2). The aging trend leads to a significant rise in the prevalence of cognitive impairments, notably Mild Cognitive Impairment (MCI) and dementia. Dementia, is a progressive syndrome that damages the brain, leading to a decline in cognitive function, behaviour, and ability to perform Activities of Daily Livings (ADL) beyond what is typically expected from normal aging (3). Dementia has significant physical, psychological, social and economic impacts on individuals living with this condition, as well as on their care givers, families and society (3). Dementia affects nearly half a million Canadians aged 65 and older (4). Given dementia's status as a significant cause of disability and dependency among older adults, and as the 7th leading cause of death globally, the World Health Organization has prioritized dementia as a public health concern (3). MCI often represents a critical transitional stage between normal aging and dementia (5). Unlike normal aging, which involves gradual cognitive decline without significant impact on daily living activities, MCI causes notable reductions in cognitive abilities, particularly affecting instrumental Activities of Daily living (iADL) (6). Importantly, 10% to 15% of individuals with MCI annually progress to dementia (7)- significantly higher than the 1% to 2% incidence annually in the general population, and up to 18% revert to normal cognitive status (8). Early detection MCI is consistent with the goal of high-quality health care. It facilitates timely access to information and treatments (9,10). It also allows for the modification of risk factors like smoking, physical inactivity, and social isolation, potentially delaying disease progression (11).

Additionally, it assists in identifying potential participants for research, essential for evaluating new treatments (9,12). Early detection also allows the patients to discuss their situation with clinicians and family members, insights into prognosis, care preferences, and future financial and living arrangements plans (9,10).

However, early detection of MCI is challenging. Individuals who notice cognitive difficulties or their families often seek assessment from Primary Care Physicians (PCPs) (13). Unfortunately, PCPs currently lack the technical support, time, training, and experience to efficiently detect cognitive impairments from preclinical phases to MCI and dementia (14,15). Research has shown that cognitive evaluation might also be skipped due to subtle cognitive impairment, fear of stigma, and patient resistance to testing (14). Currently, MCI diagnosis primarily relies on patients' history, neurological examinations, and to a great extent, traditional cognitive tests (13). Traditional cognitive tests are usually a part of the process of diagnosing MCI. These tests, such as the Montreal Cognitive Assessment (MoCA) (16), Mini Mental State Examination (MMSE) (17), and Saint Louis University Mental Status Examination (SLUMS) (18) can distinguish cognitive impairment from normal aging (19). They are often administered in paper-and-pencil format, which is straightforward and familiar for older adults. However, they have some limitations. Subjective scoring could introduce human errors (20). These tests often fail to represent the complexity of real-life tasks (21). Moreover, the need for trained clinicians to administer the test restricts access and make continuous monitoring both difficult and costly (22,23). Additionally, these tests might induce anxiety in older adults (24), potentially leading to test avoidance or negatively affecting their cognitive performance (25). These limitations highlight the need to investigate new, more accessible and less stressful complementary tools for MCI detection (13).

In response to these diagnostic challenges, there is a growing interest in leveraging digital technologies to enhance the accuracy, accessibility, and efficiency of MCI detection. These technologies include wearable devices, home/car embedded sensors, Artificial Intelligence (AI) algorithms, mobile apps and computerized tests, Virtual Reality (VR), and Serious Computer Games (SCG) (9,26,27). Wearable devices and embedded sensors are advantageous due to their ability to provide continuous data on cognitive and functional changes. However, utilizing complex algorithms and handling large data volumes, which are still areas under active development, will be required for analysis and interpretation of the data (9). VR offers an immersive experience that could potentially benefit cognitive assessments by simulating real-life environments and tasks. However, the requirement for users to wear cumbersome head mounted displays can lead to discomfort and cybersickness (28,29) besides the high costs and accessibility barriers associated with VR systems (30).

SCGs are fully-fledged games designed for purposes beyond entertainment (31). The integration of digital technologies with the capabilities of data tracking (9) and the growing positive attitude toward video games among older adults (32) make SCGs a promising tool for cognitive screening in older adults. Studies have shown that SCGs can effectively differentiate between healthy individuals and those with MCI (22,33–36), offering a non-invasive, accessible, and engaging method for early detection. These games can be administered cost-effectively and remotely, allowing for frequent monitoring without the need for clinical visits (22,23,37). The data collected from SCGs can be used to track cognitive changes over time, enabling timely interventions.

Computerized tests and Mobile apps also share benefits such as being time-efficient, inexpensive, and accessible. They can be administered with minimal training and are particularly

suitable for remote settings. Finally, in contrast to computerized cognitive tests and some apps that often mirror traditional cognitive tests, SCGs incorporate elements of gamification that enhance engagement and participation, making them more appealing and less monotonous for users (27).

1.2 Significance of this study

Despite promising applications of SCGs, several research gaps remain. The validities of the applied SCGs are not excellent, and demographic variables, as potential factors associated with cognitive status have been often overlooked. This highlights the need for more comprehensive research to understand how these factors might influence game-based cognitive screenings. Variability in game scenarios and small sample sizes limit the generalizability of findings. Additionally, some tested games lack alignment with older adults' needs and daily tasks or require physical demands that may pose challenges (38). Many applied SCGs were initially developed for healthy users and repurposed for those with cognitive impairments, lacking components simulating daily activities and compelling narratives to motivate maximum performance (39,40). Furthermore, the MMSE has been widely used in numerous studies (39,41), but it is not a precise screening for MCI (42). Investigating the psychological impact, such as state anxiety, of game-based versus traditional screenings has never been examined. In terms of usability, only two previous studies have investigated the usability of game-based screenings for MCI detection, demonstrating good usability for games using touch screens and simulating daily routine (43,44). However, the usability of SCGs using other delivery modes, like computers and mice, has not been explored. Usability is highly dependent on the specific game and its features, necessitating further assessment of different SCGs to confirm their usability for older adults.

A promising game developed in Alberta, called the Glenrose Grocery Game (G3), has been designed for older adults' cognitive training that could address these limitations. This game, commercially available for free, mimics the grocery shopping experience in a real-life scenario, offering a potentially valuable tool for cognitive assessment. G3's design has the potential to addresses previous limitations by focusing on an iADL (grocery shopping) in a virtual environment and avoiding reliance on informants' reports, and subjective scoring. G3 has been tailored to challenge cognitive skills such as attention, memory, and executive functions, which are often impaired in MCI. Thus, G3 is expected to serve as an effective proxy for detecting MCI. G3 could also be accessible for individuals living in remote areas or without internet access. The proposed study aims to address a few of the discussed gaps by investigating the feasibility of (G3), a game-based screening designed specifically for older adults, for MCI detection.

1.3 Research questions

The present study aims to respond the following research questions (RQ).

- 1. Is there any difference between the game performance of older adults with typical cognition and individuals with MCI?
- 2. What is the concurrent validity of the game-based screening for MCI detection?
 - 2.1 Is there any relationship between game performance and total score of traditional cognitive tests (MoCA score and Quick MCI (Qmci)) in older adults with typical cognitive and older adults with MCI?
 - 2.2 Is there any relationship between the sub-MoCA scores and sub-Qmci scores and the game metrics in older adults with typical cognitive and older adults with MCI?

- 3. What is the diagnostic accuracy of the game-based screening assessed by sensitivity, specificity, accuracy, and the Area Under Curve (AUC) of the game-based screening for MCI detection?
- 4. Is game performance an associated factor with cognitive status controlled by demographic variables?
- 5. Is there any difference between the level of state anxiety while playing the G3 game and while administering traditional cognitive tests in older adults with typical cognition and individuals with MCI?
- 6. What is the usability of the G3 as a game-based screening?

2. Literature review

This chapter will address several key areas essential for understanding the use of SCGs in cognitive screening for MCI. It will begin with an overview of cognitive functions and their domains, followed by a discussion of MCI, its prevalence, and associated brain changes. The review will then examine cognitive changes with aging and MCI, traditional cognitive tests used for MCI diagnosis, and their limitations. It will explore digital technologies for MCI screening, focusing on the potential of SCGs. Finally, the chapter will highlight research gaps and propose directions future studies, emphasizing the investigation of the G3, a SCG designed for older adults, for MCI detection.

2.1. Cognition

2.1.1 Definition and different domains

Cognition is defined as various mental activities involved in acquiring, storing, manipulating, and retrieving information (45). Cognitive functions allow us to learn from past experiences, plan for the future, and handle complex social interactions. Without robust cognitive capabilities,

our capacity to interact with others, accomplish tasks, and meet personal and professional objectives would be greatly affected (45). Cognitive performance is often described through various functional domains that form a hierarchy. At the lower levels are fundamental sensory and perceptual processes, while higher levels involve aspects of executive functions. These domains are interrelated, with executive functions regulating the use of more basic processes (46). This proposal will discuss six primary cognitive domains including processing speed, attention, memory, visuospatial skills, executive function, and language.

2.1.2 Processing speed

Processing speed is a foundational aspect of cognitive performance, encompassing the rate at which a person can execute cognitive tasks and motor responses. It stands out as a primary predictor of overall cognitive performance (47). This broader concept of processing speed is linked to specific metrics as follows: 1. Decision speed refers to how quickly an individual responds to complex cognitive tests, reflecting not just speed but also cognitive ability; 2. Perceptual speed refers to response times to simpler, often paper-and-pencil tests; 3. Psychomotor speed involves tasks like repetitive actions, such as finger tapping or drawing lines; 4. Reaction time is defined by how quickly one responds to visual stimuli; 5. Psychophysical speed refers to the accuracy in making decisions based on brief visual or auditory inputs, like quickly identifying an object; 6. Psychophysiological speed looks at internal response times, such as the latency in specific brain response components. These components of processing speed not only reflect the ability to perform tasks swiftly but also the accuracy and efficiency with which the brain and body respond to different types of stimuli, thus demonstrating the holistic impact of processing speed on cognitive functions (47).

2.1.3 Attention

Attention encompasses selective attention, divided attention, and sustained attention. Selective attention refers to attending to important information while there are other distractors available. Divided attention facilitates performing dual tasks, when two simultaneous pieces of information are being processed. In this situation, an individual could either prioritize paying more attention to one of the tasks or optimize their attention on both. Sustained attention refers to the capacity to maintain attention over an extended period (46). Attention is crucial for learning as it facilitates selective awareness and narrows focus on specific aspects of the sensory environment, such as having a conversation in a noisy room while filtering out distractors. Attention also helps us process and respond more efficiently to critical information, thereby optimizing our cognitive functions for both survival and everyday activities (45).

2.1.4 Memory

Memory is not solely a revival of past experiences; it is an active process of the registration of all combined mental experiences and encoding them into different systems (48). Memory can be categorized into Sensory Memory, Short-Term Memory (STM), Working Memory (WM), and Long-Term Memory (LTM) (49). Sensory memory serves as an automatic storage of sensory information memory. It is an immediate form of memory that captures the sights, sounds, textures, smells, and tastes we experience, providing us with a real-time view of the world (49). STM can temporarily hold limited information in a very accessible way, for example, remembering the alphabets that were shown for a few milliseconds (50). WM is defined as the processes the brain uses to understand, modify, interpret, and store information in STM. WM is closely related to STM and executive functions, consisting of several interconnected components for visuospatial and verbal stimuli. It temporarily holds and manipulates information, unlike

STM which only retains information. WM involves the use of memory to plan and execute actions (51,52), for example remembering the numbers to add them up. LTM refers to the unlimited storage of unlimited information. It includes declarative (explicit), non-declarative (implicit), and emotional memory (a combination of implicit and explicit). Explicit memory encompasses episodic and semantic memory. Episodic memory, a declarative memory, involves recollecting personal experiences with their temporal and spatial details, for example remembering the memory of a birthday party (45,53,54). Semantic memory is another type of declarative memory which handles general knowledge and learning during life, for example learning science at school. Implicit memory includes procedural memory that involves both sensorimotor and cognitive functions, such as learning to ride a bike. It works unconsciously, with automatic retrieval of information (45,53,54). Finally, emotional memory, another type of LTM, is the ability to remember experiences that are associated with strong emotions, such as remembering an event where we were so angry. Emotional memory is often more vivid and lasting compared to episodic memory, involving both implicit and explicit memory systems. Emotional memories can also influence behavior and decision-making, often guiding how individuals react to similar situations in the future (45). Memory as a whole plays an indispensable role in retaining and recalling past life experiences, serving as the foundation for learning, decision-making, and problem-solving. Memory also involves in language use, enabling us to remember vocabulary and apply language rules. Furthermore, memory provides a sense of continuity, helping us remember personal histories, past feelings, and cultural knowledge, which shapes our identity and influences how we view the world and interact with others (45).

2.1.5 Visuospatial skills

Visuospatial skills contribute to holding and recalling basic visuospatial information, such as the color and distance of objects. Additionally, mental imagery, another visuospatial skill, involves creating a vivid and realistic image of objects and scenes that are not present. At a more advanced level, these skills play a role in navigation and self-orientation (55). Visuospatial abilities contribute to daily activities including tasks like wayfinding, orientation, using maps, detecting the locations of objects, and reaching them. This skill is an indispensable part of carrying out independent movements within the environment. Additionally, there is a link between episodic memory and spatial abilities in the creation of memories associated with particular spatial contexts (55).

2.1.6 Executive functions

Executive functions, also known as executive control, are top-down mental processes vital for maintaining focus when instinctive responses are insufficient. Executive functions, including inhibitory control and mental flexibility, are essential for complex tasks such as reasoning, planning, and problem-solving, all of which require considerable effort (56). Inhibitory control involves managing attention, behavior, thoughts, and emotions, contributing to intentional actions beyond automatic responses. This capacity contributes to intentional reactions beyond conditional responses, habits, and impulsive behaviors. Mental flexibility contributes to creativity by enabling one to change perspectives, adapt to new situations, and seize opportunities. Both inhibitory control and mental flexibility are closely linked to each other as well as to WM. This coordination enables independent, purposeful behavior, enhancing mental and physical health, educational success, job success, marital harmony, and overall quality of life (56).

2.1.7 Language

Language abilities include both understanding and expressing language, accessing memory for meaning, identifying objects by name, and reacting to spoken commands with specific actions (46). Language encompasses four main skills, including: 1. Categorizing: this skill involves grouping similar objects, ideas, or information together, which helps in organizing knowledge and simplifying communication by managing complex sets of information into simpler, more understandable units; 2. Labelling categories: After categorizing items, assigning labels to these categories facilitates communication. This process allows for efficient and effective exchange of ideas by using specific words or phrases to represent entire groups of related items; 3.

Sequencing behavior: This skill is about arranging language elements in a logical and meaningful order. It is essential for clarity in communication, enabling the construction of coherent messages, stories, instructions, and arguments; 4. Mimicry: In language, mimicry refers to the imitation of sounds, words, phrases, and language patterns, which is crucial for learning and adapting language. It helps in acquiring linguistic norms and enhances social interaction (45).

2.2 MCI

2.2.1 Definition, prevalence, and its classification

MCI is characterized as a cognitive impairment that exceeds normal age-related decline but is not severe enough to substantially affect daily functioning (57–59). MCI often emerges with memory and learning deficiency (60), and it usually progresses to other cognitive impairments (5). The first clinical criteria for MCI were suggested by the researchers from the Mayo Clinic in the late 1990s. These criteria originally pinpointed memory impairment while maintaining other cognitive functions. The criteria encompass memory issues, verified by an informant, intact general cognition; unimpaired activities of daily living; and the absence of dementia (61).

Subsequent studies have broadened the symptoms of MCI to include other cognitive domains, leading to the development of the Petersen Criteria (62). Petersen criteria are characterized by a cognitive complaint, preferably confirmed by an informant, intact global cognition, unimpaired ADL, and absence of dementia, without significant disruption of iADL (62). However, subtle challenges in iADL might be evident (63). The Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders 5th Edition (DSM-V) also characterizes MCI as a "mild neurocognitive disorder." It requires both subjective and objective cognitive decline compared to the prior level of cognitive abilities but is not defined as dementia or other psychological disorders (64). The prevalence of MCI varies widely, ranging from 0.5% to 41.8% (65), with an overall prevalence of 19.7% in the world (66). Risk increases with age, and men appear to be at higher risk than women (67). Additionally, lower educational level, vascular risk factors (e.g., diabetes and hypertension), Apolipoprotein E (APOE) e4 genotype, vitamin D deficiency, sleepdisordered breathing, and prior critical illness (e.g., sepsis) are other risk factors for MCI (68,69). Classification of MCI is challenging due to its heterogeneous nature. However, it could be classified based on either etiology or the existence of memory impairment (61). Based on etiology MCI is classified into 1. MCI associated with Alzheimer's Disease (AD) which is associated mostly with memory decline. However, it might affect other cognitive domains as well (70); 2. Vascular MCI (VMCI) is related to issues with blood vessels in the brain, affecting multiple cognitive functions (71); 3. MCI caused by Parkinson's Disease (PD-MCI) represents a transitional state between normal cognition and dementia in Parkinson's disease, affecting either memory or other cognitive domains or even both memory and other cognitive domains (72). MCI is also classified based on the presence of memory impairment. It is divided into amnestic

(aMCI), involving memory decline with or without other cognitive issues, and non-amnestic (non-aMCI), marked by impairments in cognitive areas other than memory (61).

2.2.3 Brain structural and functional changes in typical aging vs in MCI

Typical aging and MCI manifest distinct structural and functional changes in the brain, which impact cognitive functions, with notable variations in the extent and regions affected. Aging results in changes in brain function and structures (73), potentially affecting cognitive abilities. Typical cognitive aging causes a decrease in overall brain volume, as well as in grey and white matter. The most significant atrophy occurs in the prefrontal cortex, with a moderate reduction in the temporal lobes, mainly due to changes in grey and white matter structures (73,74). Functional studies of normal aging suggest a decline in metabolic activity in the prefrontal cortex and a decrease in connectivity and network integrity, resulting in cognitive changes in older adults (73,74). Conversely, in MCI, structural brain changes are larger compared to normal aging. Magnetic Resonance Imaging studies reported a larger volumetric reduction in the medial temporal lobe in MCI compared to normal aging (75). Functional studies of MCI showed disruptions in brain activity, involving various parts of the brain, including the prefrontal, posterior cingulate, and parietal cortices (76)

2.2.4 Cognitive changes associated with typical aging VS MCI

Cognitive changes observed in typical aging and MCI differ significantly. In this section the changes of each cognitive domain in typical cognitive aging vs MCI will be discussed. Processing speed, a key indicator of cognitive performance, declines with aging (74), and this reduction is more noticeable in People with MCI (PwMCI) (77). Research indicated that in addition to potential deceleration of processing speed in simple tasks, PwMCI might also

encounter significant delays in their reaction times, which are crucial for ensuring safe, appropriate, and efficient interactions within their environments in everyday life (78). Attention declines with normal aging, especially during multitasking (46). However, PwMCI experience more significant attention deficits compared to typical aging (79) in both simple and complex sustained attention and divided attention, suggesting a higher risk of developing dementia (80). The attention deficits in MCI, along with memory and executive function issues, exacerbate difficulties in managing complex tasks such as financial management, learning, and daily routines (81,82). Sensory memory declines with aging (83,84). PwMCI show a significant reduction in sensory memory compared to people with typical cognitive aging (85). These sensory memory issues can make the effortful sensory tasks challenging. For example, listening in noisy environments becomes difficult due to impaired encoding of the stimulus details, making it harder to process and understand speech. This decline affects the ability to retain and integrate fine-grained auditory information, which is crucial for effective communication in complex listening situation (83). PwMCI might also experience difficulties in visual searching tasks (86) which is related to deficits in their sensory memory. Additionally, STM typically declines with age (87). However, this decline is more pronounced in PwMCI who show significant deficits in both visual and visuospatial STM compared to healthy older adults. These impairments can significantly impact the ability to perform everyday tasks that require learning and retention of information (86).

Moreover, in typical aging, WM decline may manifest as slower processing speeds and reduced capacity to hold and manipulate information temporarily, affecting tasks that require multitasking or complex problem-solving. These changes, while noticeable, generally do not severely impact daily functioning (56). However, WM deficits are one of the most common impairments in MCI,

affecting everyday tasks that require sustained mental effort and organization, such as managing finances, following multi-step instructions, and maintaining medication schedules (88,89). In particular, environmental distractors have a disproportionate effect on the WM performance of PwMCI, making it challenging for them to handle tasks that require attentional control and the ability to manage distractions and interruptions. As a result, PwMCI often experience greater susceptibility to memory-related deficits, leading to difficulties in daily functioning and increased vulnerability to developing dementia (88).

In terms of LTM, episodic memory typically declines with aging (90), and this decline is more noticeable in PwMCI than what is expected from typical aging (70). Research shows that PwMCI exhibit significant deficits in tasks requiring the recall of spatial locations and item recognition, reflecting an impairment in episodic memory. These deficits can affect daily activities that rely on recalling recent events or navigating familiar environments (91). In contrast, semantic memory which handles general knowledge learned during life (53) generally remains stable with age (92). However, it declines in PwMCI. This is particularly evident in tasks involving the naming of famous people or recalling factual information, indicating that MCI impacts not only episodic but also person-specific semantic knowledge (91). In contrast to declarative memory, procedural memory and emotional memory remains stable across the lifespan (93) and in MCI (94,95).

Regarding visuospatial skills, basic abilities generally remain intact with normal aging, thought older adults may experience slower processing speeds. In contrast, advanced skills, such as visuospatial memory and mental imagery, typically decline as part of aging process (55). MCI is associated with further impairment in visuospatial skills beyond what is expected from normal aging (55). PwMCI often show deficits in spatial short-term memory, spatial orientation, and the

ability to construct and manipulate spatial representations. These impairments can significantly affect daily activities, such as navigating new environments, remembering the locations of objects, and interpreting complex visual information (55). The decline in visuospatial abilities in MCI can also impact more complex tasks that require the integration of spatial and executive functions, leading to increased difficulty in planning and executing tasks that involve spatial components. For example, individuals with MCI may find it challenging to follow directions, assemble objects, or perform tasks that require an understanding of spatial relationships, which can affect their overall quality of life (55).

Executive functions, including both inhibitory control and cognitive flexibility declines with normal aging (56,74). This decline is more evident in PwMCI, potentially impacting effortful daily routines (96,97). Inhibitory control, the ability to suppress irrelevant stimuli or responses, and cognitive flexibility, the capacity to switch between different tasks or mental states, are essential for effective executive functioning. In people with MCI, deficits in these areas are common and can predict a worse prognosis. These impairments interfere with the ability to organize and process information, resist distractions, and implement strategies for encoding and recall, affecting everyday routines such as managing finances, medication adherence, and other complex tasks. The impairment in executive functions is a marker of potential progression to Alzheimer's disease, making early identification and intervention crucial (97).

Language skills generally remain stable with aging (98). However, specific abilities like naming and verbal fluency might decline with age (99,100). MCI is also linked to subtle language deterioration, signaling a potential progression to dementia (98,100,101). This deterioration includes issues with word retrieval, reduced speech fluency, and changes in syntactic complexity.

Although these language impairments are less severe than those observed in Alzheimer's disease, they are significant enough to impact daily communication (101).

2.2.5 MCI diagnosis

Early detection of MCI is beneficial for several reasons. It facilitates timely access to information and treatments (9). It also allows for the modification of risk factors like smoking, physical inactivity, and social isolation, potentially delaying disease progression (11). Additionally, it assists in identifying potential participants for research, essential for evaluating new treatments (9,12). Early detection enables patients to converse with clinicians and family members about their condition, providing insights into prognosis, care preferences, and future financial planning. (9,10). However, diagnosing MCI is challenging and cannot be confirmed by a single test. People who are concerned about their cognitive abilities should be thoroughly assessed through a detailed history and clinical examination. This evaluation should emphasize cognitive capabilities, everyday functional status, current medications, and any neurological or psychiatric conditions. It is also important to conduct laboratory tests (13). The main aims are to distinguish MCI from typical aging or dementia and to detect any reversible factors contributing to MCI, such as depression, side effects from medications, thyroid issues, or deficiencies in vitamin B12 or folate (13). Cognitive function is assessed using traditional cognitive tests such as the Montreal Cognitive Assessment (MoCA), Mini-Mental State Exam (MMSE), Saint Louis University Mental Status (SLUMS), and Quick mild cognitive impairment (Quickmci). The MMSE is one of the most used cognitive tests measure several cognitive abilities in 5 to 10 minutes. MMSE was shown to have a good test-retest reliability (0.80-0.95) (102-104). MMSE is also concurrently valid (103,104); however, it is not sensitive enough to detect MCI. Sensitivity and specificity have been recorded inconsistently ranging from 13% to 97%, and 60% to 100% respectively, considering this variation in accuracy, MMSE is less reliable for MCI detection, specifically at an early stage (105–108).

The MoCA is one of the most common paper-based cognitive tests that evaluate short-term memory, visuospatial skills, executive function, attention, concentration, working memory, language, and orientation within 10-15 minutes (16). The MoCA demonstrates high test-retest reliability, good internal consistency, as well as strong concurrent and construct validity (109). Content validity is also supported by a high correlation between MoCA and MMSE scores (16). Sensitivity and specificity vary depending on the cut-off points used, with reported sensitivity ranging from 67% to 100% and specificity from 50% to 95% (108). Research also suggested 89% sensitivity and 79% specificity for MCI detection, with the cutoff point of 26 for MCI and 18 for dementia (110). The AUC for MoCA is 0.84 in differentiating MCI from controls. The MoCA is also adjusted for educational level (16). Despite its advantages, the MoCA has some limitations including educational bias for low level of education, associated cost for usage, and the requirement for administrator training (108).

The SLUMS is a cognitive screening tool that can be administered in less than 10 min to assess attention, immediate recall, orientation, delayed recall, calculation, visuospatial abilities, and executive functions (18). However, the SLUMS is less accurate for MCI detection compared to the MoCA, with sensitivity ranging from 73% to 95% and specificity ranging from 65% to 81%, with education adjustment (111). Regarding psychometric properties, although the existing literature offers initial support for the SLUMS, further research is necessary to assess its reliability, validity, and application across more diverse populations (111).

The Qmci is a brief paper-based cognitive test designed to differentiate between normal cognitive function, subjective cognitive disorders, MCI, and early dementia. It assesses

orientation, memory, language, visuospatial skills, and executive function in 3-5 minutes. The Qmci demonstrates good test-retest reliability and validity (112–114). With a cut-off point <62, for MCI detection, it achieves a sensitivity of 90% and specificity of 87%, and the AUC for differentiating MCI form controls is 91% (115). Compared to the MoCA, the Qmci's primary advantage is its brevity, requiring only half the time to complete while offering greater accuracy for MCI detection (115,116). Additionally, the Qmci provides different cut-off points according to both age and educational level (117).

2.2.6 Advantages and disadvantages of cognitive tests

The cognitive tests can distinguish cognitive impairment from normal aging and specify and quantify the area of impairment (19). They are widely recognized in clinical practice for their proven psychometric properties (118). Moreover, they are often administered in paper-and-pencil format, which is straightforward and familiar for older adults. Despite the merits, cognitive tests have some limitations. Scoring can be subjective, leading to potential human errors and affecting test accuracy (20). These tests often fail to represent the complexity of real-life tasks (21). Moreover, the need for trained clinicians to administer the test restricts access, making continuous monitoring of cognitive changes difficult and costly (22,23). Traditional cognitive tests could induce state anxiety, an "in-the-moment" measure of anxiety as described subjectively by an individual, in older adults (24,119), potentially leading to test avoidance or negatively affecting their cognitive performance (25). The tests could be perceived as a threat (120), particularly among older adults who may have concerns about their cognitive health and the implications of receiving a low score. Such concerns could include potential changes in their living arrangements or decreased autonomy. This anxiety might divert attention toward the

threat, therefore reducing cognitive performance during the tests (120) and leading to potential misinterpretation of results and implications for MCI screening.

Therefore, the need for alternative screening methods for MCI arises from several limitations associated with current cognitive tests. These tests, while beneficial, often fail to capture the subtle changes in cognitive functioning that characterize MCI. The variability in sensitivity and specificity across different tests and populations highlights the difficulty in achieving an accurate MCI screening. Furthermore, issues such as educational bias, costs, the need for trained administrators, and the potential for inducing anxiety in test-takers can significantly impact the efficacy and accessibility of these tools. Additionally, this limitation makes it challenging and costly to track the cognitive changes over time (22,23). Research also has highlighted a significant limitation of current neuropsychological assessments, which is their administration at widely spaced time intervals (26). Such infrequent testing is susceptible to being affected by factors such as motivation, mood, stress or fatigue level.

2.2.7 Summary and gaps

Cognitive tests are valued in clinical practice for distinguishing cognitive impairment from typical aging and quantifying specific impairments due to their proven psychometric properties. These tests, typically in a familiar paper-and-pencil format, are straightforward for older adults (108,118). However, they have limitations such as subjective scoring errors (20), failure to represent real-life task complexity (21), the need for trained administrators, and inducing state anxiety in older adults (24), which can affect test performance, interpretation of the results, and older adults' reluctance to be monitored regularly. While beneficial, these tests often fail to capture the subtle changes in cognitive functioning that characterize MCI. The variability in sensitivity and specificity across different tests and populations highlights the difficulty in

achieving accurate MCI screening (108). Issues such as educational bias, costs, the need for trained administrators, and the potential for inducing anxiety in test-takers can significantly impact the efficacy and accessibility of these tools (108). Furthermore, the infrequent administration of neuropsychological assessments is a significant limitation, as it is susceptible to factors such as motivation, mood, stress, or fatigue level.

To address these challenges, there is a compelling need to explore and develop innovative screening tools that are more accessible, cost-effective, and sensitive to the early stages of cognitive decline. Additionally, investigating new methods for regular MCI screening that could reduce state anxiety among older adults is essential, as this might enhance their willingness to engage in consistent monitoring.

2.3 Digital technology for MCI screening

2.3.1 Digital technologies

Digital technologies offer innovative solutions for screening MCI. These tools provide continuous, real-time data collection, facilitating early detection and intervention (9). Digital technologies encompass variable types, including wearable devices, home-based monitoring system, in-car sensors, AI, Mobile apps, VR systems and SCGs.

Wearable devices include sensors and trackers that monitor physical activity, sleep patterns, and other physiological data (26). For instance, accelerometers and GPS-enabled devices can provide insights into a patient's mobility and spatial navigation, which are indicators of cognitive functions (26) Home-based monitoring systems involve the use of embedded sensors in the home environment to continuously collect data on daily activities. Technologies such as infrared motion sensors and magnetic contact door sensors can unobtrusively monitor changes in a person's routine, which may indicate cognitive decline (26) In-car sensors are embedded devices

within vehicles that monitor driving behavior and vehicle performance. These sensors can track metrics such as speed, braking patterns, and navigation routes. For MCI detection, in-car sensors can provide valuable data on a driver's cognitive functions by analyzing deviations from normal driving behavior, which may indicate cognitive impairment. Monitoring these behaviors over time can help identify early signs of MCI, allowing for timely interventions and support (9,26). AI refers to the development of computer systems capable of performing tasks that typically require human intelligence, such as learning, reasoning, and problem-solving. In the context of MCI detection, AI algorithms can analyze large datasets from various sources, including wearable devices and electronic health records, to identify patterns indicative of cognitive decline. AI can also enhance the accuracy and efficiency of diagnostic tools by providing real-time analysis and predictive insights, helping clinicians make more informed decisions about patient care (9).

Mobile/computer/tablet-based apps and software provide a wide range of functionalities. In healthcare, apps and software are increasingly used for monitoring health conditions, managing treatments, and providing telehealth services. For MCI detection, the apps and games can administer a digital version of traditional cognitive tests, track daily activities, and collect self-reported data from users (9,26,27). These apps offer a convenient and accessible way for continuous cognitive monitoring, enabling early detection and management of cognitive decline through user-friendly interfaces and real-time feedback (26).

VR technology creates immersive, computer-generated environments that can simulate real or imagined worlds. In healthcare, VR is used for therapeutic purposes, such as pain management, physical therapy, and cognitive rehabilitation. For MCI detection, VR can provide a controlled environment to assess cognitive functions through tasks that mimic real-life activities, such as

navigating virtual spaces or performing complex tasks. This immersive approach allows for a detailed evaluation of a patient's cognitive abilities in a safe and engaging manner (9,26). Finally, SCGs for screening MCI offer several key advantages over other digital technologies. SCGs are highly accessible and cost-effective, making them suitable for a wide range of users, including those in remote or underserved areas. They provide an enjoyable and engaging experience, which helps to maintain user motivation and reduces the anxiety often associated with traditional cognitive tests. Additionally, SCGs might be more familiar to older adults compared to other high-tech solutions, making them easier to be adopted and used. Furthermore, SCGs do not require very complex algorithms to analyze the data compared to AI, allowing for straightforward implementation and interpretation of the results. These factors combined make SCGs a practical and effective tool for early detection of cognitive decline in older adults.

2.3.2 Digital biomarkers

Digital biomarkers are characterized as objective, measurable physiological and behavioral data collected via the digital technologies, offering valuable insights into various health-related outcomes (26). Digital biomarkers can be collected through several technologies. The real-time and continuous data gained from digital biomarkers could facilitate cognitive screening both in clinical settings and through home-based methods (9). Digital biomarkers have demonstrated significant differences in cognitive outcomes related to memory and executive functions between older adults with cognitive impairments and their healthy counterparts (27). They potentially serve as sensitive indicators for MCI and dementia. With diagnostic performance comparable to traditional paper-and-pencil tests, digital cognitive biomarkers are an effective and promising proxy for the clinical detection of MCI (27).

2.3.3 Serious Computer Games and their classification

Given that the purpose of this proposal is to examine an SCG, G3, for MCI detection, the literature review will focus on SCG technologies. SCGs are fully-fledged games designed for purposes beyond entertainment (31). The integration of digital technologies with the capabilities of data tracking (9) and the growing positive attitude toward video games among older adults (32) make SCGs a promising tool for cognitive screening in older adults. In the context of SCGs, digital biomarkers are captured through the game's interaction with the player. These markers can include various metrics, such as reaction time, playing time, number of errors, and final game score (40).

SCGs can be classified into two categories: hardcore and Casual Video Games (CVGs). Hardcore games are complex, demanding high commitments, and prolonged playtime, while CVGs are simpler, requiring low commitments. The rules, goals, and required actions in CVGs are also more straightforward (121). Older adults often find it challenging and discouraging to learn and play fast-paced hardcore video games, especially those containing violent content (122–124). In contrast, the features of CVGs, which remove any possible barrier to someone enjoying the game, are considered more suitable and user-friendly for seniors (125). These simple games with clear rules also have the potential to serve as a joyful activity for older adults' rehabilitation ranging from prevention, and assessment to intervention.

Understanding the different types of CVGs is important for designing more enjoyable games and catering to player preferences (121,126). Research also suggest that different games involve various cognitive and physical abilities (39,125,126). Therefore, implementing proper games can increase the likeability and usability of the games, particularly for older adults with cognitive decline. Based on engaged cognitive abilities and required interactions, rules, and goals CVGs

can be classified into casual action, casual puzzle, casual simulation, and casual strategy games (121).

Casual action games, exemplified by the Whack-a-Mole, require a simple series of actions and usually involve eye-hand coordination and fast reactions (121). Causal puzzle games are characterized by straightforward challenges such as matching, sorting, or solving puzzles, requiring reasoning, and problem-solving skills (121). Casual simulation games simplify real-world activities (e.g., sports, cooking, driving) without the complexities of hardcore games, involving context-related knowledge, cognitive coordination, information processing, and movement control (121). Casual strategy games, for example, Tower Defense, require strategic decision-making, planning, and the ability to modify actions to achieve a goal but with a more accessible and less complex approach than hardcore strategy games (121).

Research indicated that CVGs with any type are usable for seniors (121), in particular, casual simulation games were found to be more comprehensible for older adults (125). Therefore, a simple game with clear rules that simulates a real environment, and familiar scenarios could be enjoyable and engaging for older adults, especially those with cognitive decline.

2.3.4 The advantages and disadvantages of Serious Computer Games compared to traditional cognitive tests

SCGs present several benefits compared to traditional cognitive screening methods which typically involve paper-and-pencil tests. SCGs offer consistent and standardized administration procedures, reducing rater bias (27). The standard procedures ensure precise control over the presentation of stimuli and enable accurate measurements. This level of precision could explain why many game-based screenings show comparable or better diagnostic performance compared to traditional tests (27).

Another significant advantage of SCGs is their accessibility, even for people living in remote areas (37), which also facilitates the recruitment of large sample sizes for research purposes. In contrast, the administration of traditional cognitive tests often requires trained clinicians, limiting access for older adults who live in remote areas. This limitation makes it challenging and costly to monitor cognitive changes over time (22,23).

SCGs also offer the potential advantages of adaptability and customization for screening different cognitive domains (127), which can improve user motivation and acceptance (128). The difficulty and features of SCGs could be adjusted dynamically based on the player's performance, needs, and preferences (128,129). This contrasts with traditional tests that often offer inflexible formats. However, more research is needed to explore the full potential of this adaptability and customization (129).

SCGs can also incorporate ADL and iADL within the game scenarios (27), offering a more realistic measurement of cognitive abilities and reflecting how impairments might affect everyday tasks (130,131). The home-based and self-administered aspects combined with ADL and iADL simulation, enhances the ecological validity of SCGs compared to traditional tests administered in clinical settings, which often lack real-life components (132).

Moreover, SCGs provide an engaging and enjoyable experience, potentially reducing the anxiety often induced by traditional tests in older adults (24). Research suggested that using video games could cut the influence of the white coat effect, the anxiety resulted from being assessed by a health care professional (133) and the overwhelming feeling associated with traditional screening methods (118). The stress-relieving benefits of video games have been also reported by older adults who play them (32). However, no research has been done to examine the different levels

of anxiety among older adults with and without cognitive impairments while doing the traditional tests and playing an SCG.

Despite the advantages, SCGs present several limitations. A primary concern is the reluctance of many older adults to engage with new technological devices (134) and potential of experiencing technology anxiety among older adults, making the application of SCGs challenging (135). In contrast, older adults might be more familiar with the process of performing traditional tests. Additionally, SCGs have not been integrated into standard clinical practice (135), partly due to the lack of a set of standardized guidelines and normative data that are necessary for clinical interpretation (133). However, traditional tests have well-established psychometric properties and are commonly used in clinical practice (118).

Moreover, unlike traditional tests, the SCGs are still in the early stages of consideration for clinical practice (134); and the feasibility of using different SCGs has not been comprehensively examined (136). However, traditional tests have been recommended for clinical practice (137). Research on SCGs for older adults often excludes individuals with uncorrected vision and hearing impairments (23,34,44), raising concerns about the generalizability of results. However, established cognitive tests like the MoCA offer adjusted versions for such individuals (138). Another limitation is the lack of regulations regarding the commercialization of SCGs for older adults, potentially causing safety issues. Companies should comply with approved rules to ensure that the games are safe and useful for targeted populations (135), especially since older adults might play these games at home without clinical supervision (127). Finally, the need for internet access to play SCGs can be a barrier for older adults with limited internet connectivity (127), affecting their inclusivity.

2.3.5 Serious Computer Games as screening tools for MCI

Only a handful of studies have applied SCGs for MCI screening, revealing significant differences in game performance between older adults with MCI and their healthy counterparts For instance, Zygouris et al. noted that individuals with MCI took significantly longer to complete games than their healthy counterparts (t = 4.84, p < 0.001) (139). Similarly, Gielis et al. observed distinct differences in 12 out of 23 digital biomarkers, including time-based, errorbased, and result-based metrics, highlighting substantial discrepancies between the two groups (140). Therefore, the SCGs could differentiate or classify older adults with and without MCI. However, more studies are needed to test more game scenarios and investigate the association of demographic factors with game performance in PwMCI and healthy counterparts. Research has also explored the criterion validity of the game-based screenings for MCI detection, highlighting significant correlations between game metrics and cognitive status (39,41,139–146). Numerous game metrics, including completion ability, gameplay duration, accuracy of actions, and total score, have been examined for their relationship with cognitive status. For instance, Zygouris et al. found a negative correlation (r= -0.2) between game playtime and cognitive test scores, suggesting that older adults with lower cognitive status required more time to complete games (139). Zygouris et al. also found correlations between education (r= -0.3 and r = -0.23) and age (r = 0.2 and r = 0.24) with the total time needed to complete the game (22,139). It means that a higher education level is associated with faster game completion, while older age correlates with longer completion times. Cabinio et al. found a correlation between game performance accuracy, reaction time, total playing score and cognitive status in PwMCI and the comparison group (43). Although these findings affirm the criterion validity of gamebased screenings, the correlations are not strong. Only one study explored the correlation of the

demographic variables and the game performance. Further research is necessary to clarify the relationships between traditional cognitive screening scores and various game metrics, evaluating the validity of game-based screenings.

Only one study has investigated the reliability of game-based cognitive screenings, indicating a significant gap in the research. The researchers conducted a test-retest reliability study and found moderate reliability in their assessments (146). This study had a very small sample size of only nine healthy controls, which is insufficient to draw robust conclusions. To establish the reliability of game-based cognitive screenings, more extensive research with larger and more diverse samples is necessary.

Research showed that the game-based screenings could classify participants into two groups, with typical cognitive aging and PwMCI (34,41,139,140,143,144,147) Moreover, the diagnostic accuracy of game-based screenings, assessed through metrics like sensitivity, specificity, and Receiver Operating Characteristic (ROC) curves, have surpassed traditional paper-and-pencil tests (140,144,146). In addition, the diagnostic accuracy of a SCG, the Smart Aging Serious Game (SASG), was investigated by using two classification models, Random Forest (RF) and logistic regression (LR) (34). Both models used the same variables as potential predictors, including traditional cognitive tests and SASG total scores. The RF analysis resulted in a 75% accuracy rate for the healthy comparison group versus MCI classification. Moreover, the LR analysis resulted in an 87% accuracy rate for the classification of PwMCI versus the healthy comparison group (34). Despite these encouraging results, the sample sizes in these studies need to be larger to conclude generalizable results. Moreover, the variation in game scenarios, features, and metrics used across studies prevents drawing a conclusive statement that would apply to all SCGs.

The predictive validity of game-based screenings has also been explored. Several studies provided valuable insights into the use of game-based screenings for examining cognitive status in older adults. These studies explored the predictability of such screenings, particularly focusing on Positive Predictive Value (PPV) and Negative Predictive Value (NPV), critical measures for evaluating the responsiveness of diagnostic tests (39,143,144). PPV of the game-based used by Valladares-Rodriguez et al. was reported as 90% (143). However, PPV reported by Bonnechère et al. and Chua et al. were 24% and 66.7% respectively (39,144). Using different games, sample sizes, and demographic variables might explain this inconsistency. Therefore, more studies with larger sample sizes are needed in this area. Moreover, the incorporation of demographic information as predictors in models analyzing the diagnostic accuracy and predictability of SCGs remains unexplored, indicating another area for future research.

The psychological conditions such as anxiety of MCI screening I n older adults have been less explored. Only one study showed that doing traditional cognitive screening might be considered a threat for older adults, potentially generating anxiety (148). The potential of game-based screenings to provide an anxiety-free environment has not been directly compared to traditional cognitive screenings, highlighting a gap in current research.

Research on game-based screenings has varied widely in terms of the game scenarios employed. Some studies utilized games that closely mimic real-life activities, such as the Virtual Super Market (44,139,141,146,149), SASG (34,43,145), and Virtual Action Planning Museum (41). These games are designed to simulate daily tasks and challenges, potentially providing a realistic measure of an individual's cognitive abilities related to ADL and iADL. Conversely, other studies have opted for simpler game scenarios that may not fully capture the complexities of ADL and iADL, such as Klondike solitaire (140), Whack-a-Mole (23), and short mobile games

(147). These games often lack the depth required to assess the range of cognitive skills such as planning, problem-solving, attention, and memory, which are critical for independent living. The importance of assessing a broad array of cognitive abilities needed for the independent execution of iADL has been underscored (131). The responsiveness of SCGs in assessing cognitive performance in older adults is significantly enhanced when the games incorporate realistic ADL or iADL scenarios. Therefore, there is a need for further research into SCGs that mimic real-life scenarios. Such games are particularly crucial for effectively screening for MCI among older adults.

Two primary methodologies are employed for using SCGs in game-based cognitive screenings: analyzing data from existing games, and creating custom games that mimic traditional cognitive assessments, ADL, or iADL specifically for older adults. For instance, the Microsoft Solitaire Collection was enhanced with tools to measure digital biomarkers such as the time taken to make decisions and in-game errors, potentially reflecting changes in planning, executive function, or attention (140). Similarly, a variety of games, including Sudoku, Word Search, and Whack-a-Mole were employed to measure digital biomarkers, game metrics, such as reaction time, error count, and correct actions, which might indicate processing speed, attention, and memory (23,40,150). Additionally, a set of seven brain-training mini-games within the Peak mobile app were used for assessing cognitive status in older adults. Different game metrics were collected, including total time of playing and total score, which involved memory, processing speed, attention, visuospatial skills, and language (147). Although these popular games are engaging and have been shown to correlate with cognitive health, they often fail to cover all cognitive domains essential for comprehensive cognitive screening instruments. In addition, some of them

were not specifically tailored to the needs of older adults, including considerations for agerelated changes.

In contrast, research into custom-designed games has shown promising directions. Several studies employed a bespoke SCG, virtual supermarket, for cognitive status detection, using game metrics such as time duration, correct items, bought unlisted items, correct quantities, and correct money, which involved visual and verbal memory, executive function, attention, and spatial navigation, with the emphasis is on the execute function (44,139,141,146,149). Additionally, the SASG was utilized, specifically aimed at the early detection and prevention of cognitive impairments in older adults (34,43). They explored several game metrics, including performance accuracy, reaction times, and total game score, which involved memory, attention, executive functions, working memory, and visual-spatial processes (34,43). These custom-designed games are tailored to address the unique cognitive needs of this population.

These efforts in employing commercial and custom-designed games for cognitive evaluation have shown promising outcomes. Nonetheless, the field requires further investigation to establish strong, conclusive findings on their diagnostic accuracy and validity.

In terms of usability, only two previous studies have investigated the usability of game-based screenings for MCI detection (43,44). These studies demonstrated that the usability of their game-based screenings was good. Both games used touch screens and simulated daily routines (43,44). However, the usability of SCGs using other delivery modes, such as computers and mice, has never been explored. Furthermore, the usability of SCGs is highly dependent on the specific game and its features, necessitating the assessment of different SCGs to confirm their usability by older adults. Despite these findings, there is a lack of studies addressing all diagnostic accuracy, validity, and usability. Usability is crucial for the adoption of SCGs as

cognitive screening tools, as it directly impacts the effectiveness and reliability of the screenings. Therefore, it is essential to evaluate the usability of different SCGs comprehensively to ensure they can be effectively used by older adults in various formats.

The availability of SCGs varies significantly, with several factors impacting their accessibility for broader use, including being available in several languages and being commercially available for free. Many SCGs tested for MCI detection are designed primarily for research purposes and are not always widely available for public use. Some of the SCGs support multiple languages to accommodate diverse populations, as seen in studies where games were implemented in English, Korean, and Italian, Greek, Turkish, Korean, and Chinese. However, the applied SCGs are not accessible for people communicating in other languages. Some SCGs used in previous studies (41,43,44,144) are also available on common platforms such as tablets and computers for research, but they may not be accessible outside of controlled research settings. This limited availability can pose a challenge for widespread implementation and underscores the need for further development and commercialization to make these tools more accessible for clinical use and everyday settings.

2.3.6 Summary and gaps

In conclusion, various studies have applied SCGs for MCI screening among older adults, revealing significant differences in game performance between those with MCI and their healthy counterparts However, despite these promising findings, several gaps and areas for further study remain evident. Notably, the correlations between the game metrics and the traditional cognitive scores found were not robust, and demographic variables were often overlooked in these analyses, limiting the concurrent validity of the used game-based screenings. This oversight

suggests a need for more comprehensive research to understand better how demographic factors might influence the outcomes of game-based cognitive screenings.

The variability in game scenarios, dependence of the results and usability on the specific games and their availability, and small sample sizes also limit the generalizability of these findings, highlighting a clear need for further research. Future studies should also focus on integrating demographic variables, employing larger sample sizes, and exploring a wider variety of game types to enhance validity and usefulness of SCGs. Furthermore, the availability of SCGs used in previous studies is limited, and they are not accessible for older adults and clinicians to use in everyday life or clinical settings.

Research should also examine the psychological impact of game-based screenings, such as state anxiety, compared to traditional screenings. Understanding the levels of anxiety induced by different types of screenings can help improve the design and implementation of SCGs, making them more user-friendly and less intimidating for older adults. This could broaden the acceptance and effectiveness of these innovative tools in MCI screening.

Moreover, there is a need to explore the integration of real-life scenarios into SCGs, such as Activities of Daily Living (ADL) and instrumental ADL (iADL), to provide a more realistic assessment of cognitive abilities. Custom-designed games that mimic real-life activities have shown promising results, and further research in this area could enhance the ecological validity of SCGs.

In conclusion, while SCGs hold great promise for MCI screening, addressing these gaps through comprehensive research will be essential for establishing their reliability, validity, generalizability and widespread applicability.

3. Method

3.1 Study design

This study is an observational cross-sectional study. Since the G3 in this study has never been used for screening cognitive status, its validity as an indicator for MCI and its diagnostic accuracy are unknown. Given the novelty and untested nature of G3, a cross-sectional design is chosen for its cost-effectiveness and time efficiency, making it suitable for a feasibility study to explore the game's validity, usability, and diagnostic accuracy. Moreover, recruiting a large sample size for a longitudinal or repeated measures study and undertaking extensive data collection would be unethical for a tool whose usability, validity, and diagnostic accuracy have not been previously assessed. This is particularly relevant for older adults with cognitive impairments, who are a vulnerable population. Therefore, a cross-sectional study is the best approach for the first steps of research in the area using the G3.

3.2 Participants

3.2.1 Inclusion criteria

- Older adults who are aged 65 and above with typical cognition or MCI as reported by themselves, or a health care professional.
- Older adults participating in this study must have MoCA score of 18 or higher.
- Older adults participating in the study must have functional vision and hearing, with or without aids such as glasses or hearing aids that enable them to interact with the game and comprehend the instructions. As part of the study recruitment activities, the researcher will explain the tasks required and discuss the vision and hearing demands.

- Older adults participating in the study must be capable of communicating and comprehending assessments, instructions, and simple sentences in English, as communication and comprehension is essential for interacting effectively with game components and the researcher. To assess their communication, reading, and comprehension skills, the researcher will provide participants with a few sentences in English related to the game content. Participants will be asked to read these sentences aloud and explain the meaning of the sentence to confirm their ability to read and understand the content.
- Older adults participating in the study must have adequate upper extremity function to play the game, using a mouse and do paper-and-pencil based measurements, using a pencil. During the study's introduction and training part of the game, potential participants can report any physical limitations. The researcher will also screen for these issues.

3.2.2 Exclusion criteria

• Older adults currently suffering from Influenza, COVID-19, or any other viral illness at the time of data collection that could impair their performance will be excluded. These conditions could impair their performance, potentially affecting the reliability of the outcomes. Additionally, the presence of such illnesses could pose a health risk to other participants who use the same equipment, as well as to the researcher.

3.3 Sample size

The correlational analysis was selected for determining the sample size of this study. The main reason for that is that the diagnostic accuracy and validity testing are the primary objectives of this project. Calculating the sample size based on correlational analysis offers a robust approach

to examining the relationship between game performance and cognitive status, requiring a moderate number of participants. Thus, this study, designed with a statistical power of 0.8, an alpha level of 0.05, and a medium effect size of 0.7, requires a minimum sample size of 58 participants. Twenty-nine older adults (65 and above) who meet the diagnostic criteria for MCI, and 29 older adults with typical cognition will be eligible to participate in the study. Other reasons for justifying the sample size include: 1) The statistical analyses to answer questions that aim to compare two conditions, or two groups requires a smaller sample size; and this small sample size is insufficient to justify correlational analysis. 2) the "Events Per Variable" (EPV) rule is often used in statistical modeling, particularly in logistic regression, to determine the minimum sample size needed to ensure reliable and valid results. The general rule is to have at least 10 events (outcomes of interest) for each predictor variable (151). Therefore, using regression analysis to explore the six associated factors (game performance, age, sex, educational level, tech savviness, and living status) with the presence of MCI would necessitate 60 events (instances of the outcome of interest). Assuming an equal distribution of events and non-events, at least 120 participants would be needed in total to achieve 60 events, ensuring that each predictor variable is adequately supported by the data and enhancing the reliability of the statistical model. However, for a feasibility study involving a brand-new, untested test, it is not ethical to recruit a large sample size and burden vulnerable older adults with participation. Besides, at this point of the study, it is not known how many independent variables will be included in the model and that depends on the results of the factorial analysis that precedes the logistic model. Therefore, I aim to treat the research about the associated factors with the presence of MCI (RQ4) as a pilot to gather preliminary data. This approach can help refine the research design and hypotheses, and the results can be used to justify the need for a larger study

in the future. Additionally, based on the data, a simpler model with only the strongest predictors will be used to produce a more reliable regression model. Thus, for an initial study on a new test, correlational analysis is the most practical choice, allowing us to assess concurrent validity without requiring an excessively large sample size.

3.4 Sampling strategy

The accessible population of older adults with MCI and typical cognition.

3.5 Settings and Materials

3.5.1 Settings

The study will be conducted either in the spaces provided by the partner community organizations (e.g. assistive living facilities) or in Room 1-43 or 1-45 of the Corbett Hall, at the Faculty of Rehabilitation Medicine, University of Alberta.

3.5.2 Materials

A 13-inch Dell Latitude 5411 laptop, equipped with an Intel(R) Core (TM) i7-10850H CPU, 16 GB RAM, and a Microsoft mouse, customized for both left and right-handed individuals, will be used to play the game. The game G3, will be utilized for the game-based screening.

G3 was designed to simulate grocery shopping, aiming at challenging cognitive skills in a fun and engaging way. Originally developed in Edmonton, Alberta, by Glenrose Rehabilitation

Research, Innovation & Technology (GRRIT), the game was created in collaboration with occupational therapists to meet the specific needs of older adults. G3 consists of 50 stages and was initially intended for cognitive training. However, in this study, it will be tested for the first time as a cognitive screening tool.

The game features stages with varying difficulty levels (easy, normal, hard), based on the number of items in the shopping list, according to needed ingredients for a meal. For this study, six stages will be selected for participants to play. Players take a virtual trip to the grocery store to shop for ingredients of a virtual dinner for celebrity guests. Participants can choose their player character, and the inclusion of old-time celebrities as non-player characters, along with short written conversations with these celebrities, aims to create a sense of belonging for older adults. In some stages the guests may ask for a change in the shopping list, for example because of an allergy, that need to be considered by the player.

G3's design includes several features to enhance its appeal and effectiveness for older adults. Using a familiar scenario like shopping increases the ecological validity of the game. The option to select a male or female older adult character helps develop a sense of belonging, while the ability to pause and start the game easily improves the sense of autonomy. The goal of the game is straightforward, making the instructions easy to understand. The difficulty levels are aligned with the abilities of most older adults, ensuring that the game is challenging yet accessible. The original game was designed for a large touchscreen measuring 24 inches by 80 inches. GRRIT collaborated with two companies, Rebel Parachute and Beach & Lanes, to transform the game into an app for iOS and Android tablets. The game was redesigned to fit smaller screens and various tablet shapes for a free commercial version of G3. However, for this study, a computer-based version that can automatically record game metrics will be used.

3.6 Variables

The study variables are the following:

- Game performance collected through various game metrics, including total time of
 playing, the ability to complete the whole game, the ability to manage the budget, number
 of errors, the number of checking the shopping list, and the game performance accuracy.
 - Total Time of playing: This numerical variable refers to the total time that takes to complete all 6 stages in seconds with the maximum of 1800 seconds.
 - The ability to complete the game: This binary variable (1= Could complete, 0= Could not complete) refers to the participant's ability to complete all the 6 stages of the game.
 - The ability to manage the budget: This binary variable (1 = Could manage, 0 =
 Could not manage) refers to the participant's ability to keep their purchases equal to or below the budget limit provided for each level.
 - The number of errors: This numerical variable refers to the total number of mistakes made by participants, including mistaken, missed, and repeated items purchased.
 - The number of times the participant opens up the reading list: This numerical variable refers to the total number of times the participant open and check the shopping list within the 6 stages.
 - O The game accuracy: This numerical variable represents the success in the game, ranging from 0 to 100, where higher values mean higher game performance.

Demographics

 Age (In number of years): It refers to the chronological age of an individual in years at the time of data collection. This variable is considered as numerical in this study.

- Sex at birth: It refers to sex assigned at birth. Categories for this variable are male and female.
- Level of education: It refers to the highest degree or level of school completed by the participants. Categories for this variable are elementary school, high school, bachelor's degree, master's degree, and higher.
- Technology savvy: This categorical refers to the familiarity and experience of the
 participants with technology. It will be collected and measured based on the
 number of technological devices they use and the frequency of their usage.
- Living status: It refers to the participants' living condition. Categories for this
 variable are living alone, living with family, and living in an institution
- Cognitive status: It refers to the level of cognitive functioning. This variable includes two components: the MoCA score, ranging from 0 to 30, and the QuickMCI (Qmci) score, ranging from 0 to 100 for RQ2, investigating the correlation between game performance and cognitive status. Cognitive status is also defined as a binary variable, indicating whether the participant has MCI (1) or does not have MCI (0) for RQ4 that investigates the associated factors to MCI.
- State anxiety level: This numerical variable refers to the participant's anxiety levels when administering the traditional cognitive screenings and when playing the game. It is measured through the State-Trait Anxiety Inventory and ranging from 20-80. The higher scores correspond to the higher level of anxiety.
- System usability: This numerical variable refers to the quality attribute that indicate how easily users can utilize a technology. It is measured through System Usability Scale

(SUS), which ranges from 0-100 (152). Higher scores correspond to more usability of the technology.

3.7 Recruitment

An email containing information about the study will be sent to partner organizations, including hospitals, memory clinics, day programs, assisted living facilities, retirement homes, and community groups. Additionally, flyers will be posted in various locations within the University of Alberta Medical Clinics, at community organizations that agree to support the study, and on social media platforms. The flyers will provide details about the research opportunity and the contact information of the researcher.

If an organization shows interest, an information session will be held to provide further details about the project and address any questions from the staff and potential participants. Older adults from these partner organizations who can provide informed consent and are interested in participating can directly contact the researcher to obtain more information or express their interest in participating. Individuals who see the flyer and contact the researcher can ask questions and receive more information through email, phone calls, or in-person or online meetings.

Interested older adults who meet the inclusion criteria will provide their contact information to the researcher to schedule an introductory session and a potential data collection session. During the introductory session, potential participants will learn about G3, its functionalities, and how to use the computer to play the game. The potential participant will be also asked to read some sentences aloud to ensure they can follow the instructions, read, and understand the content. The researcher will screen participants based on the inclusion and exclusion criteria, observing for any physical or communication difficulties that could negatively impact their engagement with

the game. Even if participants do not meet the inclusion criteria, they will still be allowed to play the game to maintain their dignity.

Those who meet the inclusion criteria and express interest in the study will sign a consent form provided by the researcher. The researcher will facilitate this process to ensure all participants clearly understand what their participation involves and the nature of the study. Participants will have the opportunity to play the Level 1 of the game to become familiar with the laptop and the game itself. Following consent, the researcher, in collaboration with the partner organization if applicable, will schedule the data collection session either on the same day or at a later date.

3.8 Data collection

Following the introductory part and the signing of the consent form by potential participants, demographic information will be gathered. Measurements for state anxiety will be administered before doing the cognitive test and before playing the game. The MoCA and Qmci for assessing cognitive status, will be administered following assessing the state anxiety. Participants will then have the opportunity to play G3 across six stages featuring three difficulty levels: easy, normal, and hard in a progressive order based on the items in the shopping list. The difficulty levels are determined by the number of items on the shopping list, allowing for a progressive challenge to their cognitive abilities within a controlled environment. After completing the game, the SUS will be administered. All measurements are expected to be conducted in a single data collection session, lasting approximately 120 minutes. If participants feel tired or need a break, accommodations will be made to ensure their comfort and well-being, including the option to take breaks or reschedule the session as needed. Assessments that will be used in the data collection are as follows:

• Montreal Cognitive Assessment (MoCA)

MoCA is one of the most common paper-based cognitive tests that has been discussed earlier in this proposal.

• Quick mild cognitive impairment (Qmci)

Qmci is one of the paper-based cognitive tests that has been discussed earlier in this proposal.

• State-Trait Anxiety Inventory (STAI)

The Spielberger STAI is a paper-based self-administered instrument comprising 40 items, designed to independently evaluate State Anxiety (S-Anxiety) and Trait Anxiety (T-Anxiety). S-Anxiety, assessed through 20 items, reflects a transient emotional condition influenced by the current situational context, wherein respondents indicate their immediate feelings. Conversely, T-Anxiety, also measured through 20 items, denotes a stable predisposition towards anxiety, with respondents reporting their general feelings (153). This STAI demonstrated robust psychometric properties. Test-retest reliability for the T-Anxiety subscale is high, indicating stability, whereas the S-Anxiety subscale is less stable, reflecting situational influences. Internal consistency is strong for both T-Anxiety and S-Anxiety (154). Concurrent validity is supported by strong correlations with other anxiety measures, and construct validity is evidenced by higher scores among psychiatric patients and during stressful situations (154). The total score ranges from 20 to 80, with scores of 20–39 indicating low anxiety, 40–59 indicating moderate anxiety, and 60–80 indicating high anxiety (153). In this study, the state anxiety score will be used to compare the level of anxiety experienced during the administration of traditional cognitive screening tests (i.e. MoCA and Qmci) and while playing the G3 game.

• System Usability Scale (SUS)

SUS is a paper-based, simple, subjective, 10-item scale that provides a general view of usability.

Each item on this Likert scale presents a statement, and respondents indicate their degree of

agreement or disagreement on a 5-point scale. The SUS is typically used after respondents have had an opportunity to use the system being evaluated, but before any discussion occurs. Respondents should provide their instant responses to each item without overthinking. The final score ranges from 0 to 100 (Ref).

3.9 Data analysis

To explore the difference between game performance in PwMCI and healthy comparison group (RQ1), the Unpaired t-test or Mann-Whitney U test as appropriate (155), with an α level of 0.05, will be applied. If the mean difference is statistically significant, it indicates that G3 can classified older adults with typical cognition and older adults with MCI based on their game performance. In addition, a two-way factorial multiple analysis of covariance (MANCOVA) (155) will be performed to compare the effects of demographics as covariates on the differences between groups.

To explore the association between the game performance and traditional cognitive tests, including MoCA and Qmci (RQ2), correlational analysis (155) between the game metrics and the scores of each traditional cognitive tests, including total score sub-scores such as memory and executive functions will be conducted. If the correlation coefficient (r) is positive closer to one, it means that the concurrent validity of G3 as an MCI screening tool is good.

To investigate the diagnostic accuracy of the game-based screening (RQ3), formulas will be used as follows:

Sensitivity: Proportion of true positives correctly identified = $\frac{TP}{TP+FN}$

Specificity: Proportion of true negatives correctly identified = $\frac{TN}{TN+FP}$

Accuracy: Overall correctness of the testx = $\frac{\text{TP+TN}}{\text{Total Population}}$

Where TP: True Positives, TN: True Negatives, FN: False Negatives, FP: False Positives (155). Additionally, the interpretation of the Receiver Operating Characteristic (ROC) and Area Under the Curve (AUC) will be used for examination of diagnostic accuracy (155). The ROC curve is a graphical plot that illustrates the diagnostic ability of a binary classifier system as its discrimination threshold is varied. The curve is created by plotting the True Positive Rate (TPR) against the False Positive Rate (FPR) at various threshold settings (155).

The following steps will be used to calculate the ROC curve:

Firstly, the True Positive Rate (TPR), also known as sensitivity or recall, will be determined using the formula:

$$TPR = \frac{TP}{TP + FN}$$

Secondly, the False Positive Rate (FPR), also known as (1 - specificity), will be determined using the formula:

$$FPR = \frac{FP}{FP+TN}$$

Finally, the ROC curve will be calculated and plotted. TPR and FPR need to be calculated for various threshold values. Then, TPR (y-axis) against FPR (x-axis) for each threshold will be plotted. The closer the ROC curve is to the upper left corner, the higher the test's accuracy, as this position represents a sensitivity of 1 and a false positive rate of 0 (specificity of 1). An ideal ROC curve has an AUC of 1.0. An AUC of 0.5 indicates no discrimination, 0.7 to 0.8 is acceptable, 0.8 to 0.9 is excellent, and above 0.9 is considered outstanding (155,156).

To investigate if the game performance is an associated factor with cognitive status controlled by demographic variables (RQ4), logistic regression analysis (157) will be used. For all variables, categories will be combined into broader categories, when possible, to improve the power of the logistic regression model (158). Chi-Square test will be used to determine if there is a significant

association between variables and cognitive status. Principal Component Analysis (PCA) will be used to reduce the number of variables in a dataset while preserving as much variability (information) as possible (159). To determines which factors to retain based on explained variance, and Eigenvalue Cut-Off of 1 will be applied. Following this, logistic regression model will be run with the included variables. The performance of the logistic regression model with be evaluated using ROC analysis and test characteristics (160).

To compare the differences between the level of anxiety while playing the game and while traditional cognitive tests in older adults with typical cognition and with MCI (RQ5), either the Paired t-test or Wilcoxon Signed-Ranks test (155) will be used as appropriate, with an α level of 0.05, to compare the anxiety level in the two conditions- while playing the games and while performing MoCA. If the mean difference is significant and lower while playing the game compared with MoCA and Qmci, it means that the G3 causes less anxiety compared to the traditional cognitive screening tools.

To explore the usability of the game-based screening (RQ6), the SUS results will be calculated and interpreted as follows:

To calculate the SUS score, the following steps will be carried out: first sum the score contributions from each item. Each item's score contribution will range from 0 to 4. For items 1,3,5,7, and 9 the score contribution is the scale position minus 1. For items 2,4,6,8 and 10, the contribution is 5 minus the scale position. Second, multiply the sum of the scores by 2.5 to obtain the overall value of SU. SUS scores have a range of 0 to 100 (152). A SUS score of 85 or higher indicates exceptional usability, while a score below 70 is considered unacceptable (161).

3.10 Ethical considerations

Several ethical considerations need to be addressed in this study: First, informed consent is essential, ensuring that participants fully understand the study's purpose and potential risks, with an emphasis on honesty and transparency. This also includes clarifying that they can withdraw their consent at any time (127). Second, the autonomy of participants must be respected, allowing them to make informed decisions about their participation freely, without any external pressure (162). Providing the participants with an introductory session to become familiar with the project and the ability to stop the process and withdraw their consent could support their autonomy and independence in this study. Third, data privacy and confidentiality measures are crucial, including secure storage and controlled access (127), that will be followed according to ethics office of the University of Alberta. Fourth, the safety of participants should always be a priority, ensuring that the benefits of the study outweigh any potential risks involved (127). Fifth, researchers should provide any needed support including emotional and informational (127). Providing this support entails researchers having a deep understanding of conditions and being equipped with flexible communication to effectively address any distress that might occur (127). All these considerations will be applied by the researcher who is experienced enough in working with older adults. Sixth, researchers should avoid mentioning participants' diagnoses to prevent causing them stress and discomfort (127). Additionally, the participants should be recruited from diverse cultures and ethnicities to ensure inclusivity and equity. However, due to the nature of the G3 game, which is limited to the English language, it is not possible to recruit participants from communities that are not proficient in English, limiting the diversity and inclusivity of this game-based screening. Additionally, the western cuisine and celebrities featured in the game

might not be engaging or enjoyable for individuals from non-Western cultures. Therefore, G3 is not greatly inclusive.

3.11 Limitations

This study has some limitations. the cross-sectional design involves data collection in a single session, providing only a snapshot of the participants' game performance and cognitive status. This snapshot may be influenced by transient factors such as mood at the time of data collection and environmental factors like the time of day, location (163). Although using an average of cognitive and game performance scores might offer a more accurate representation of participants' abilities, a cross-sectional design was chosen because this is the first time the G3 is being tested as a screening tool. The validity, reliability, and diagnostic accuracy of the test have not yet been confirmed, making it unethical to require older adults, who may be vulnerable, to participate in a repeated measures design study.

Another challenge is the sample size, which needs to be larger to increase the generalizability of the results and create a more reliable regression model. However, as this is a feasibility study focusing on investigating the diagnostic accuracy and concurrent validity of the G3, the sample size is approximately 60 participants. Additionally, many older adults are reluctant to participate due to health status (164), lack of support, socioeconomic limitations (165), or fear of receiving a low score on the cognitive test, potentially causing selection bias and limiting the generalizability of the results (73). Misclassification can also occur if individuals are wrongly categorized as healthy or with MCI, reducing the reliability of the study outcomes (73).

From a technical perspective, the G3 was created in English and primarily reflects Western food culture and celebrities, which may not be engaging or accessible to a diverse population of older adults, particularly non-English speakers. Furthermore, adequate or corrected vision, hearing,

and upper extremity abilities are necessary to understand the instructions and play the game, excluding older adults with impairments in these areas. Despite clear and simple game rules and instructions, the use of computer games like the G3 may not be easily accessible to older adults with very low education levels or technophobia, negatively impacting diversity, inclusion, and equity.

Finally, due to financial constraints and technical considerations, data collection will be conducted at the University of Alberta or locations provided by community partners. This limitation prevents data collection at participants' homes, negatively affecting the inclusion of older adults living in remote areas or facing commuting difficulties, and potentially reducing the ecological validity, diversity and inclusivity of the game-based screening.

3.12 Timeline

I plan to complete my research project in 2026. The ethics approval will be obtained in Fall 2024. Data collection will be conducted in 9 months and will be completed in Spring 2025. Data analysis will be completed in 4 months in Fall 2025. I plan to write the papers in six months, so they will be submitted in Summer 2026.

3.13 Budget

Thesis operating grant funding request

Item	Amount (CAD)	Rationality
Commuting to locations	200	Some partner organizations
provided by partner		are located in areas not easily
organizations		accessible by public transit.

Research materials	2000	A laptop and two mice
		(modified for right and left-
		handed users). Additionally,
		the cost of printing paper-
		based assessments.
Training	200	MoCA training course
Research travel	2000	Attendance at possible
		conferences such as Age-
		Well Annual Conference, The
		Canadian Gaming Summit,
		Serious Play Conference.
Total	4400	

References

- World Health Oranization. Ageing and health [Internet]. 2022 [cited 2024 Jul 28].
 Available from: https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/ageing-and-health
- 2. Statistics Canada. A portrait of Canada's growing population aged 85 and older from the 2021 Census [Internet]. 2022 [cited 2024 Jul 28]. Available from: https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2021/as-sa/98-200-X/2021004/98-200-X2021004-eng.cfm
- 3. World Health Organization. Dementia [Internet]. 2023 [cited 2024 Jul 28]. Available from: https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/dementia
- 4. Statistics Canada. 13 research teams receive \$8.7M from the Government of Canada and partners to study age-related cognitive impairment Canada.ca [Internet]. 2024 [cited 2024 Jul 28]. Available from: https://www.canada.ca/en/institutes-health-research/news/2024/01/13-research-teams-receive-87m-from-the-government-of-canada-and-partners-to-study-age-related-cognitive-impairment.html

- 5. Petersen RC. Clinical practice. Mild cognitive impairment. N Engl J Med [Internet]. 2011 Jun 9 [cited 2024 Jan 23];364(23):2227–34. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/21651394/
- 6. Albert SM, Michaels K, Padilla M, Pelton G, Bell K, Marder K, et al. Functional significance of mild cognitive impairment in elderly patients without a dementia diagnosis. American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry [Internet]. 1999 Jun 1 [cited 2024 Jul 28];7(3):213–20. Available from: http://www.ajgponline.org/article/S1064748112609026/fulltext
- 7. Alzheimers's Association. 2024. [cited 2024 Jul 28]. Mild Cognitive Impairment (MCI) | Symptoms & Treatments | alz.org. Available from: https://www.alz.org/alzheimers-dementia/what-is-dementia/related_conditions/mild-cognitive-impairment
- 8. Canevelli M, Grande G, Lacorte E, Quarchioni E, Cesari M, Mariani C, et al. Spontaneous Reversion of Mild Cognitive Impairment to Normal Cognition: A Systematic Review of Literature and Meta-Analysis. J Am Med Dir Assoc [Internet]. 2016 Oct 1 [cited 2024 Jul 28];17(10):943–8. Available from: http://www.jamda.com/article/S1525861016302389/fulltext
- 9. Ford E, Milne R, Curlewis K. Ethical issues when using digital biomarkers and artificial intelligence for the early detection of dementia. Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Data Mining and Knowledge Discovery. John Wiley and Sons Inc; 2023.
- International D. World Alzheimer Report 2011: The benefits of early diagnosis and intervention; World Alzheimer Report 2011: The benefits of early diagnosis and intervention [Internet]. [cited 2023 Nov 18]. Available from: www.alz.co.uk/worldreport2011
- 11. Prince M, Albanese E, Pender R, Ferri C, Mazzotti DR, Piovezan RD, et al. World Alzheimer Report 2014 Dementia and Risk Reduction AN ANALYSIS OF PROTECTIVE AND MODIFIABLE FACTORS SUPPORTED BY Dr Maëlenn Guerchet Dr Matthew Prina [Internet]. 2014 [cited 2024 Jan 31]. Available from: www.daviddesigns.co.uk
- 12. Alber J, Lee AKW, Menard W, Monast D, Salloway SP. Recruitment of At-Risk Participants for Clinical Trials: A Major Paradigm Shift for Alzheimer's Disease Prevention. J Prev Alzheimers Dis [Internet]. 2017 [cited 2024 Jan 31];4(4):213–4. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/29181484/
- 13. Langa KM, Levine DA. The Diagnosis and Management of Mild Cognitive Impairment: A Clinical Review NIH Public Access. JAMA. 2014;312(23):2551–61.

- 14. Sabbagh MN, Boada M, Borson S, Chilukuri M, Dubois B, Ingram J, et al. Early Detection of Mild Cognitive Impairment (MCI) in Primary Care. Journal of Prevention of Alzheimer's Disease. 2020 Mar 1;7(3):165–70.
- 15. Bradford A, Kunik ME, Schulz P, Williams SP, Singh H, DeBakey ME. Missed and Delayed Diagnosis of Dementia in Primary Care: Prevalence and Contributing Factors Inquiry to Improve Outpatient Safety Through Effective Electronic Communication, both at the.
- 16. Nasreddine ZS, Phillips NA, Bédirian V, Charbonneau S, Whitehead V, Collin I, et al. The Montreal Cognitive Assessment, MoCA: A Brief Screening Tool For Mild Cognitive Impairment. J Am Geriatr Soc [Internet]. 2005 Apr 1 [cited 2023 Dec 28];53(4):695–9. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1111/j.1532-5415.2005.53221.x
- 17. Folstein MF, Folstein SE, Mchugh PR. "MINI-MENTAL STATE" A PRACTICAL METHOD FOR GRADING THE COGNITIVE STATE OF PATIENTS FOR THE CLINICIAN*. J gsychiaf Res. 1975;12:189–98.
- 18. SLU Mental Status Exam: SLU [Internet]. [cited 2024 Jan 29]. Available from: https://www.slu.edu/medicine/internal-medicine/geriatric-medicine/aging-successfully/assessment-tools/mental-status-exam.php
- 19. Sanford AM. Mild Cognitive Impairment. Clin Geriatr Med [Internet]. 2017 Aug 1 [cited 2024 Jan 23];33(3):325–37. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/28689566/
- 20. Kelso GI, Tadi P. StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls. 2024. Cognitive Assessment.
- 21. Spooner DM, Pachana NA. Ecological validity in neuropsychological assessment: A case for greater consideration in research with neurologically intact populations.

 Archives of Clinical Neuropsychology [Internet]. 2006 [cited 2024 Jan 31];21:327–37.

 Available from: https://academic.oup.com/acn/article/21/4/327/2833
- Zygouris S, Ntovas K, Giakoumis D, Votis K, Doumpoulakis S, Segkouli S, et al. A Preliminary Study on the Feasibility of Using a Virtual Reality Cognitive Training Application for Remote Detection of Mild Cognitive Impairment. J Alzheimers Dis [Internet]. 2017 [cited 2024 Jan 31];56(2):619–27. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/28035922/
- 23. Wallace B, Knoefel F, Goubran R, Masson P, Baker A, Allard B, et al. Detecting cognitive ability changes in patients with moderate dementia using a modified "Whack-a-Mole" game. IEEE Trans Instrum Meas. 2018 Jul 1;67(7):1521–34.

- 24. Meltzer EP, Kapoor A, Fogel J, Elbulok-Charcape MM, Roth RM, Katz MJ, et al. The association of psychological, cognitive, and functional variables with self-reported executive functioning in a sample of non-demented community-dwelling older adults HHS Public Access. Appl Neuropsychol Adult. 2017;24(4):364–75.
- 25. Wetherell JL, Reynolds CA, Gatz M, Pedersen NL. Anxiety, cognitive performance, and cognitive decline in normal aging. J Gerontol B Psychol Sci Soc Sci [Internet]. 2002 [cited 2024 Jan 30];57(3):P246–55. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/11983736/
- 26. Piau A, Wild; Katherine, Mattek N, Kaye J. Current State of Digital Biomarker Technologies for Real-Life, Home-Based Monitoring of Cognitive Function for Mild Cognitive Impairment to Mild Alzheimer Disease and Implications for Clinical Care: Systematic Review. 2019 [cited 2024 Jan 30]; Available from: http://www.jmir.org/2019/8/e12785/
- 27. Ding Z, Lee TL, Chan AS. Digital Cognitive Biomarker for Mild Cognitive Impairments and Dementia: A Systematic Review. J Clin Med [Internet]. 2022 Jul 1 [cited 2023 Dec 18];11(14):4191. Available from: https://www.mdpi.com/2077-0383/11/14/4191/htm
- 28. Messner JI. An evaluation of immersive virtual reality systems for design reviews. 2013 [cited 2024 Jan 30]; Available from: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/286095846
- 29. Taylor LC, Harm DL, Kennedy RS, Reschke MF, Loftin RB. Cybersickness Following Repeated Exposure to DOME and HMD Virtual Environments. 2011.
- 30. Gonçalves YA, Boas V. Overview of Virtual Reality Technologies.
- 31. Clark C.Abt. Serious Games. 1987.
- 32. Nelson Kakulla B. Gaming Attitudes and Habits of Adults Ages 50-Plus [Internet]. Washington, DC; 2019 Dec. Available from: https://www.aarp.org/research/topics/technology/info-2019/2020-gaming-trends-older-americans.html
- 33. Zygouris S, Tsolaki M. Computerized Cognitive Testing for Older Adults. http://dx.doi.org/101177/1533317514522852 [Internet]. 2014 Feb 13 [cited 2023 Dec 28];30(1):13–28. Available from: https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/1533317514522852

- 34. Isernia S, Cabinio M, DI Tella S, Pazzi S, Vannetti F, Gerli F, et al. Diagnostic Validity of the Smart Aging Serious Game: An Innovative Tool for Digital Phenotyping of Mild Neurocognitive Disorder. Journal of Alzheimer's Disease. 2021;83(4):1789–801.
- 35. Tarnanas I, Schlee W, Tsolaki M, Müri R, Mosimann U, Nef T. Ecological Validity of Virtual Reality Daily Living Activities Screening for Early Dementia: Longitudinal Study. [cited 2024 Jan 27]; Available from: http://games.jmir.org/2013/1/e1/
- 36. Liu Q, Song H, Yan M, Ding Y, Wang Y, Chen L, et al. Virtual reality technology in the detection of mild cognitive impairment: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Vol. 87, Ageing Research Reviews. Elsevier Ireland Ltd; 2023.
- 37. Ding L, Kim CM, Orey M. Studies of student engagement in gamified online discussions. Comput Educ. 2017 Dec 1;115:126–42.
- 38. Liu KY, Chen SM, Huang HL. Development of a game-based cognitive measures system for elderly on the basis of mini-mental state examination. Proceedings of the 2017 IEEE International Conference on Applied System Innovation: Applied System Innovation for Modern Technology, ICASI 2017. 2017 Jul 21;1853–6.
- 39. Bonnechère B, Van Vooren M, Bier JC, De Breucker S, Van Hove O, Van Sint Jan S, et al. The Use of Mobile Games to Assess Cognitive Function of Elderly with and without Cognitive Impairment. J Alzheimers Dis. 2018;64(4):1285–93.
- 40. Joshi V, Wallace B, Shaddy A, Knoefel F, Goubran R, Lord C. Metrics to monitor performance of patients with mild cognitive impairment using computer based games. 3rd IEEE EMBS International Conference on Biomedical and Health Informatics, BHI 2016. 2016 Apr 18;521–4.
- 41. Tarnanas I, Laskaris N, Tsolaki M, Muri R, Nef T, Mosimann UP. On the comparison of a novel serious game and electroencephalography biomarkers for early dementia screening. Adv Exp Med Biol. 2015;821:63–71.
- 42. Mitchell AJ. A meta-analysis of the accuracy of the mini-mental state examination in the detection of dementia and mild cognitive impairment. J Psychiatr Res [Internet]. 2009 Jan [cited 2023 Nov 20];43(4):411–31. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/18579155/
- 43. Cabinio M, Rossetto F, Isernia S, Saibene FL, Di Cesare M, Borgnis F, et al. The Use of a Virtual Reality Platform for the Assessment of the Memory Decline and the Hippocampal Neural Injury in Subjects with Mild Cognitive Impairment: The Validity of Smart Aging Serious Game (SASG). J Clin Med [Internet]. 2020 May 1 [cited 2024 Jul 29];9(5). Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC7290592/

- 44. Zygouris S, Segkouli S, Triantafyllidis A, Giakoumis D, Tsolaki M, Votis K, et al. Usability of the Virtual Supermarket Test for Older Adults with and without Cognitive Impairment. J Alzheimers Dis Rep. 2022;6:229–34.
- 45. Kolb B, Whishaw IQ. Fundamentals of human neuropsychology. 2015.
- 46. Harvey PD. Domains of cognition and their assessment. Dialogues Clin Neurosci [Internet]. 2019 [cited 2024 Jan 23];21(3):227–37. Available from: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.31887/DCNS.2019.21.3/pharvey
- 47. Salthouse TA. Aging and measures of processing speed. Biol Psychol. 2000 Oct 1;54(1–3):35–54.
- 48. Schacter DL, Tulving E, editors. Memory systems 1994. The MIT Press; 1994.
- 49. Stangor C, Walinga J. Memories as types and stages . In: Introduction to Psychology. BCcampus; 2014.
- 50. Cowan N, Brain P, Author R. What are the differences between long-term, short-term, and working memory? NIH Public Access Author Manuscript. Prog Brain Res. 2008;169:323–38.
- 51. Atkinson RC, Shiffrin RM. Human Memory: A Proposed System and its Control Processes. In: Psychology of Learning and Motivation Advances in Research and Theory. Academic Press; 1968. p. 89–195.
- 52. Baddeley AD, Hitch G. Working Memory. Psychology of Learning and Motivation Advances in Research and Theory. 1974 Jan 1;8(C):47–89.
- 53. Tulving E. Episodic and Semantic Memory. In: Tulving E, Donalsdon W, editors. Organization of Memory. Academic Press; 1972. p. 381–403.
- 54. Gallagher A, Bulteau C, Cohen D, Michaud JL, editors. Handbook of Clinical Neurology. Vol. 173. 2020. 201–213 p.
- 55. Iachini T, Iavarone A, Senese V, Ruotolo F, Ruggiero G. Visuospatial Memory in Healthy Elderly, AD and MCI: A Review. Curr Aging Sci. 2010 Jan 9;2(1):43–59.
- 56. Diamond A. Executive Functions. https://doi.org/101146/annurev-psych-113011-143750 [Internet]. 2013 Jan 2 [cited 2024 Jan 23];64:135–68. Available from: https://www.annualreviews.org/doi/abs/10.1146/annurev-psych-113011-143750

- 57. Petersen RC, Caracciolo B, Brayne C, Gauthier S, Jelic V, Fratiglioni L. Mild cognitive impairment: a concept in evolution. J Intern Med [Internet]. 2014 [cited 2024 Jan 29];275(3):214–28. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/24605806/
- 58. Petersen RC, Smith GE, Waring SC, Ivnik RJ, Tangalos EG, Kokmen E. Mild Cognitive Impairment: Clinical Characterization and Outcome. Arch Neurol [Internet]. 1999 Mar 1 [cited 2023 Nov 18];56(3):303–8. Available from: https://jamanetwork.com/journals/jamaneurology/fullarticle/774828
- 59. Petersen RC, Smith GE, Waring SC, Ivnik RJ, Kokmen E, Tangelos EG. Aging, Memory, and Mild Cognitive Impairment. International Psychogeriatric Association [Internet]. 1997 [cited 2023 Dec 10];9. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1017/S1041610297004717
- 60. Petersen RC, Morris JC. Mild Cognitive Impairment as a Clinical Entity and Treatment Target. Arch Neurol [Internet]. 2005 Jul 1 [cited 2023 Nov 20];62(7):1160–3. Available from: https://jamanetwork.com/journals/jamaneurology/fullarticle/788785
- 61. Petersen RC. Mild cognitive impairment as a diagnostic entity. J Intern Med [Internet]. 2004 Sep [cited 2023 Feb 7];256(3):183–94. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/j.1365-2796.2004.01388.x
- 62. Petersen RC, Roberts RO, Knopman DS, Boeve BF, Geda YE, Ivnik RJ, et al. Mild Cognitive Impairment: Ten Years Later. Arch Neurol [Internet]. 2009 Dec [cited 2024 Jan 29];66(12):1447. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC3081688/
- 63. Ebly EM, Hogan DB, Parhad IM. Cognitive Impairment in the Nondemented Elderly: Results From the Canadian Study of Health and Aging. Arch Neurol [Internet]. 1995 Jun 1 [cited 2024 Jul 29];52(6):612–9. Available from: https://jamanetwork.com/journals/jamaneurology/fullarticle/593507
- 64. American Psychiatric Association. Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders. Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders. 2013 May 22;
- 65. Pessoa RMP, Bomfim AJL, Ferreira BLC, Chagas MHN. Diagnostic criteria and prevalence of mild cognitive impairment in older adults living in the community: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Archives of Clinical Psychiatry (São Paulo) [Internet]. 2019 Jul 29 [cited 2024 Jan 4];46(3):72–9. Available from: https://www.scielo.br/j/rpc/a/dsgz4V6FkQJGKHYHsCMXXvx/?lang=en
- 66. Song WX, Wu WW, Zhao YY, Xu HL, Chen GC, Jin SY, et al. Evidence from a metaanalysis and systematic review reveals the global prevalence of mild cognitive impairment. Vol. 15, Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience. Frontiers Media SA; 2023.

- 67. Petersen RC, Roberts RO, Knopman DS, Geda YE, Cha RH, Pankratz VS, et al. Prevalence of mild cognitive impairment is higher in men: The Mayo Clinic Study of Aging. Neurology [Internet]. 2010 Sep 9 [cited 2024 Jul 29];75(10):889. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC2938972/
- 68. Iwashyna TJ, Ely EW, Smith DM, Langa KM. Long-term cognitive impairment and functional disability among survivors of severe sepsis. JAMA [Internet]. 2010 Oct 27 [cited 2024 Jul 29];304(16):1787–94. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/20978258/
- 69. Yaffe K, Laffan AM, Harrison SL, Redline S, Spira AP, Ensrud KE, et al. Sleep-Disordered Breathing, Hypoxia, and Risk of Mild Cognitive Impairment and Dementia in Older Women. JAMA [Internet]. 2011 Aug 10 [cited 2024 Jul 29];306(6):613–9. Available from: https://jamanetwork.com/journals/jama/fullarticle/1104205
- 70. Albert MS, Dekosky ST, Dickson D, Dubois B, Feldman HH, Fox NC, et al. The diagnosis of mild cognitive impairment due to Alzheimer's disease:

 Recommendations from the National Institute on Aging-Alzheimer's Association workgroups on diagnostic guidelines for Alzheimer's disease. Alzheimers Dement. 2011;7(3):270–9.
- 71. Meguro K, Dodge HH. Vascular Mild Cognitive Impairment: Identifying Disease in Community-Dwelling Older Adults, Reducing Risk Factors, and Providing Support. The Osaki-Tajiri and Kurihara Projects. Journal of Alzheimer's Disease. 2019 Jan 1;70(s1):S293–302.
- 72. Goldman JG, Litvan I. Mild Cognitive Impairment in Parkinson's Disease.
- 73. Harada CN, Natelson Love MC, Triebel KL. Normal Cognitive Aging. Clin Geriatr Med [Internet]. 2013 Nov [cited 2024 Jan 23];29(4):737. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC4015335/
- 74. Murman DL. The Impact of Age on Cognition. Semin Hear [Internet]. 2015 Aug 1 [cited 2024 Jan 25];36(3):111. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC4906299/
- 75. Ries ML, Carlsson CM, Rowley HA, Sager MA, Gleason CE, Asthana S, et al. Magnetic resonance imaging characterization of brain structure and function in mild cognitive impairment: A review. Vol. 56, Journal of the American Geriatrics Society. 2008. p. 920–34.
- 76. Lin L, Xing G, Han Y. Advances in Resting State Neuroimaging of Mild Cognitive Impairment. Vol. 9, Frontiers in Psychiatry. Frontiers Media S.A.; 2018.

- 77. Wadley VG, Bull TP, Zhang Y, Barba C, Bryan RN, Crowe M, et al. Cognitive Processing Speed Is Strongly Related to Driving Skills, Financial Abilities, and Other Instrumental Activities of Daily Living in Persons With Mild Cognitive Impairment and Mild Dementia. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci [Internet]. 2021 Oct 1 [cited 2024 Jul 29];76(10):1829. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC8522472/
- 78. Haworth J, Phillips M, Newson M, Rogers PJ, Torrens-Burton A, Tales A. Measuring Information Processing Speed in Mild Cognitive Impairment: Clinical Versus Research Dichotomy. Journal of Alzheimer's Disease. 2016 Jan 1;51(1):263–75.
- 79. Saunders NLJ, Summers MJ. Attention and working memory deficits in mild cognitive impairment. J Clin Exp Neuropsychol [Internet]. 2010 Apr [cited 2024 Jul 29];32(4):350–7. Available from: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/13803390903042379
- 80. Saunders NLJ, Summers MJ. Longitudinal Deficits to Attention, Executive, and Working Memory in Subtypes of Mild Cognitive Impairment. Neuropsychology. 2011 Mar;25(2):237–48.
- 81. Mendonca F, Sudo FK, Santiago-Bravo G, Oliveira N, Assuncao N, Rodrigues F, et al. Mild Cognitive Impairment or Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder in Older Adults? A Cross Sectional Study. Front Psychiatry [Internet]. 2021 Sep 20 [cited 2024 Jul 29];12. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/34616321/
- 82. Triebel KL, Martin PR, Griffith HR, Marceaux J, Okonkwo MOC, Harrell L, et al. Declining financial capacity in mild cognitive impairment A 1-year longitudinal study. 2009;
- 83. Fogerty D, Humes LE, Busey TA, Kuljiš RO, Xu X, Gangishetti U. Age-Related Declines in Early Sensory Memory: Identification of Rapid Auditory and Visual Stimulus Sequences. 2016 [cited 2024 Jul 24]; Available from: www.frontiersin.org
- 84. Cheng CH, Lin YY. The effects of aging on lifetime of auditory sensory memory in humans. Biol Psychol. 2012;89:306–12.
- 85. Tomida K, Lee S, Bae S, Harada K, Katayama O, Makino K, et al. Association of Dual Sensory Impairment with Cognitive Decline in Older Adults. Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord [Internet]. 2022 Nov 9 [cited 2024 Jan 31];51(4):322–30. Available from: https://dx.doi.org/10.1159/000525820
- 86. Alescio-Lautier B, Michel BF, Herrera C, Elahmadi A, Chambon C, Touzet C, et al. Visual and visuospatial short-term memory in mild cognitive impairment and Alzheimer disease: Role of attention. Neuropsychologia. 2007;45:1948–60.

- 87. Parkin AJ, Walter BM, Parkin AJ. Aging, short-term memory, and frontal dysfunction. Psychobiology. 1991;19(2):175–9.
- 88. Aurtenetxe S, García-Pacios J, Río D del, López ME, Pineda-Pardo JA, Marcos A, et al. Interference Impacts Working Memory in Mild Cognitive Impairment. Front Neurosci [Internet]. 2016 Oct 13 [cited 2024 Jan 31];10(OCT):443. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC5061755/
- 89. Huntley JD, Howard RJ. Working memory in early Alzheimer's disease: A neuropsychological review. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry. 2010 Feb;25(2):121–32.
- 90. Rönnlund M, Nyberg L, Bäckman L, Nilsson LG. Stability, growth, and decline in adult life span development of declarative memory: Cross-sectional and longitudinal data from a population-based study. Psychol Aging. 2005 Mar;20(1):3–18.
- 91. Dudas RB, Clague F, Thompson SA, Graham KS, Hodges JR. Episodic and semantic memory in mild cognitive impairment. Neuropsychologia. 2005;43:1266–76.
- 92. Laver GD. Aging and Semantic Memory. Encyclopedia of Geropsychology [Internet]. 2016 [cited 2024 Jan 8];1–10. Available from: https://link.springer.com/referenceworkentry/10.1007/978-981-287-080-3_233-1
- 93. Fleischman DA, Wilson RS, Gabrieli JDE, Bienias JL, Bennett DA. A longitudinal study of implicit and explicit memory in old persons. Psychol Aging. 2004 Dec;19(4):617–25.
- 94. De Wit L, Kessels RP, Kurasz AM, Amofa Sr P, Marsiske M, Chandler MJ, et al. Declarative Learning, Priming, and Procedural Learning Performances comparing Individuals with Amnestic Mild Cognitive Impairment, and Cognitively Unimpaired Older Adults. [cited 2024 Jan 31]; Available from: https://doi.org/10.1017/S1355617722000029
- 95. Waring JD, Dimsdale-Zucker HR, Flannery S, Budson AE, Kensinger EA. Effects of mild cognitive impairment on emotional scene memory. 2017 [cited 2024 Jan 31]; Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2017.01.011
- 96. Rabi R, Vasquez BP, Alain C, Hasher L, Belleville S, Anderson ND. Inhibitory Control Deficits in Individuals with Amnestic Mild Cognitive Impairment: a Meta-Analysis. Neuropsychology Review 2020 30:1 [Internet]. 2020 Mar 12 [cited 2024 Jan 31];30(1):97–125. Available from: https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s11065-020-09428-6
- 97. Guarino A, Forte G, Giovannoli J, Casagrande M. Executive functions in the elderly with mild cognitive impairment: a systematic review on motor and cognitive

- inhibition, conflict control and cognitive flexibility. Aging Ment Health. 2020 Jul 2;24(7):1028–45.
- 98. Park DC, Reuter-Lorenz P. The adaptive brain: aging and neurocognitive scaffolding. Annu Rev Psychol [Internet]. 2009 Jan [cited 2024 Jan 31];60:173–96. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/19035823/
- 99. Zec RF, Markwell SJ, Burkett NR, Larsen DL. A longitudinal study of confrontation naming in the "normal" elderly. 2005 [cited 2024 Jan 31]; Available from: https://doi.org/10.1017/S1355617705050897
- 100. Salthouse TA. Selective review of cognitive aging. Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society [Internet]. 2010 [cited 2024 Jan 31];16(5):754–60. Available from: https://www.cambridge.org/core/journals/journal-of-the-international-neuropsychological-society/article/selective-review-of-cognitive-aging/03B208872643C5C9A00CFFB356AA9BF4
- 101. Mueller KD, Hermann B, Mecollari J, Turkstra LS. Connected Speech and Language in Mild Cognitive Impairment and Alzheimer's Disease: A Review of Picture Description Tasks. J Clin Exp Neuropsychol [Internet]. 2018 Oct 21 [cited 2024 Jan 31];40(9):917. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC6198327/
- 102. Folstein MF, Folstein SE, McHugh PR. "Mini-mental state". A practical method for grading the cognitive state of patients for the clinician. J Psychiatr Res. 1975;12(3):189–98.
- 103. Tombaugh TN, McIntyre NJ. The mini-mental state examination: a comprehensive review. J Am Geriatr Soc [Internet]. 1992 [cited 2024 Jul 29];40(9):922–35. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/1512391/
- 104. O'Connor DW, Pollitt PA, Hyde JB, Fellows JL, Miller ND, Brook CPB, et al. The reliability and validity of the Mini-Mental State in a British community survey. J Psychiatr Res [Internet]. 1989 [cited 2024 Jul 29];23(1):87–96. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/2666647/
- 105. Ozer S, Young J, Champ C, Burke M. A systematic review of the diagnostic test accuracy of brief cognitive tests to detect amnestic mild cognitive impairment. Vol. 31, International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry. John Wiley and Sons Ltd; 2016. p. 1139–50.
- 106. Pinto TCC, Machado L, Bulgacov TM, Rodrigues-Júnior AL, Costa MLG, Ximenes RCC, et al. Is the Montreal Cognitive Assessment (MoCA) screening superior to the Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE) in the detection of mild cognitive impairment (MCI) and Alzheimer's Disease (AD) in the elderly? Int Psychogeriatr [Internet]. 2019

- Apr 1 [cited 2024 Jul 29];31(4):491–504. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30426911/
- 107. Tsoi KKF, Chan JYC, Hirai HW, Wong A, Mok VCT, Lam LCW, et al. Recall Tests Are Effective to Detect Mild Cognitive Impairment: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis of 108 Diagnostic Studies. J Am Med Dir Assoc [Internet]. 2017 Sep 1 [cited 2024 Jul 29];18(9):807.e17-807.e29. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/28754516/
- 108. Zhuang L, Yang Y, Gao J. Cognitive assessment tools for mild cognitive impairment screening. J Neurol [Internet]. 2021 May 1 [cited 2024 Jan 23];268(5):1615–22. Available from: https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s00415-019-09506-7
- 109. Daniel B, Agenagnew L, Workicho A, Abera M. Psychometric Properties of the Montreal Cognitive Assessment (MoCA) to Detect Major Neurocognitive Disorder Among Older People in Ethiopia: A Validation Study. Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat [Internet]. 2022 [cited 2024 Jul 29];18:1789. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC9416441/
- 110. Bernier PJ, Gourdeau C, Carmichael PH, Beauchemin JP, Voyer P, Hudon C, et al. It's all about cognitive trajectory: Accuracy of the cognitive charts–MoCA in normal aging, MCI, and dementia. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2023 Jan 1;71(1):214–20.
- 111. Spencer RJ, Noyes ET, Bair JL, Ransom MT. Systematic Review of the Psychometric Properties of the Saint Louis University Mental Status (SLUMS) Examination. 2022 [cited 2024 Jul 13]; Available from: https://doi.org/10.1080/07317115.2022.2032523
- 112. Finns; Piirtola M, Vahlberg T, Isoaho R, Aarnio P, Kivelä SL. Which part of the Quick mild cognitive impairment screen (Qmci) discriminates between normal cognition, mild cognitive impairment and dementia? Aging Clin Exp Res [Internet]. 1994 [cited 2024 Jul 17];47:324–30. Available from: https://academic.oup.com/ageing/article/42/3/324/24943
- 113. Rezaei M, Shariati B, Molloy DW, O'caoimh R, Rashedi V. The Persian Version of the Quick Mild Cognitive Impairment Screen (Qmci-Pr): Psychometric Properties among Middle-Aged and Older Iranian Adults. Int J Environ Res Public Health [Internet]. 2021 Aug 2 [cited 2024 Jul 17];18(16). Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC8393250/
- 114. Xu Y, Lin Y, Yi L, Li Z, Li X, Yu Y, et al. Screening for Cognitive Frailty Using Short Cognitive Screening Instruments: Comparison of the Chinese Versions of the MoCA and Qmci Screen. Front Psychol [Internet]. 2020 Apr 3 [cited 2024 Jul 17];11. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC7145973/

- 115. Messinis L, O'Donovan MR, Molloy DW, Mougias A, Nasios G, Papathanasopoulos P, et al. Comparison of the Greek Version of the Quick Mild Cognitive Impairment Screen and Standardised Mini-Mental State Examination. Arch Clin Neuropsychol [Internet]. 2021 Jun 1 [cited 2024 Jul 17];36(4):578–86. Available from: https://pubmed-ncbi-nlm-nih-gov.login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/32783063/
- 116. O'caoimh R, Timmons S, Molloy DW. Screening for Mild Cognitive Impairment: Comparison of "MCI Specific" Screening Instruments. 2016;
- 117. O'caoimh R, Molloy DW. Comparison of the Six Item Cognitive Impairment Test (6CIT) to Commonly-Used Short Cognitive Screening Instruments in a Memory Clinic Population. J Alzheimers Dis Rep. 2023;7:299–306.
- 118. Jacova C, Kertesz A, Blair M, Fisk JD, Feldman HH. Neuropsychological testing and assessment for dementia. Alzheimer's & Dementia. 2007 Oct 1;3(4):299–317.
- 119. Pearman A, Neupert SD, Hughes ML. State Anxiety Is Related to Cortisol Response During Cognitive Testing for Older Adults. Gerontol Geriatr Med [Internet]. 2020 Jan [cited 2024 Jul 13];6:233372142091477. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1177/2333721420914776
- 120. Eysenck MW, Derakshan N, Santos R, Calvo MG. Anxiety and cognitive performance: attentional control theory. Emotion [Internet]. 2007 May [cited 2024 Jan 30];7(2):336–53. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/17516812/
- 121. Chesham A, Wyss P, Müri RM, Mosimann UP, Nef T. What older people like to play: Genre preferences and acceptance of casual games. JMIR Serious Games. 2017 Apr 1;5(2).
- 122. Eck R Van, Hung W. A Taxonomy and Framework for Designing Educational Games to A Taxonomy and Framework for Designing Educational Games to Promote Problem Solving Promote Problem Solving. In [cited 2023 Nov 26]. Available from: https://commons.und.edu/tlpp-fac
- 123. Lee J, Karlova N, Clarke R, Thornton K, Perti A. Facet Analysis of Video Game Genres. In iSchools; 2014.
- 124. Apperley TH. Genre and game studies: Toward a critical approach to video game genres. http://dx.doi.org/101177/1046878105282278 [Internet]. 2006 Mar 1 [cited 2023 Nov 26];37(1):6–23. Available from: https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/1046878105282278

- 125. Vasconcelos Fraunhofer A, Rua PA, Allen A, Alexandra P, Fraunhofer S, Caseiro Fraunhofer J, et al. Designing Tablet-Based Games for Seniors: the example of CogniPlay, a cognitive gaming platform. In 2012.
- 126. Zelinski EM, Reyes R. Cognitive benefits of computer games for older adults. Gerontechnology [Internet]. 2009 Oct 1 [cited 2024 Jul 29];8(4):220. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC4130645/
- 127. Sixsmith A, Sixsmith J, Lan Fang M, Horst B. AgeTech, Cognitive Health, and Dementia. Morgan & Claypool; 2020.
- 128. Streicher A, Smeddinck JD. Personalized and adaptive serious games. In: Lecture Notes in Computer Science (including subseries Lecture Notes in Artificial Intelligence and Lecture Notes in Bioinformatics) [Internet]. Springer Verlag; 2016 [cited 2024 Jan 31]. p. 332–77. Available from: https://link.springer.com/chapter/10.1007/978-3-319-46152-6_14
- 129. Vieira Baptista RJ, Pistono A, Marcos Á, Arnaldo P, Pinto M, Ricardo S, et al. A Review of Adaptable Serious Games Applied to Professional Training. Journal of Digital Media & Interaction [Internet]. 2021 [cited 2024 Jan 31];4(11):60–85. Available from: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/357534640
- 130. Katz S. Assessing self-maintenance: Activities of daily living, mobility, and instrumental activities of daily living. J Am Geriatr Soc. 1983;31(12):721–7.
- 131. Lawton MP, Brody EM. Assessment of older people: Self-maintaining and instrumental activities of daily living. Gerontologist. 1969;9(3):179–86.
- 132. Vallejo V, Wyss P, Rampa L, Mitache A V., Müri RM, Mosimann UP, et al. Evaluation of a novel Serious Game based assessment tool for patients with Alzheimer's disease. PLoS One. 2017 May 1;12(5).
- 133. Camila Castiblanco M, Cortés Carvajal LV, Pardo C, Lasso Arciniegas LD. Systematic Mapping of Literature About the Early Diagnosis of Alzheimer's Disease Through the Use of Video Games. In: Botto-Tobar M, S. Gómez O, Rosero Miranda R, Díaz Cadena A, Montes León S, Luna-Encalada W, editors. Trends in Artificial Intelligence and Computer Engineering [Internet]. Cham: Springer International Publishing; 2022. (Lecture Notes in Networks and Systems; vol. 407). Available from: https://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-3-030-96147-3
- 134. Silva Neto H, Cerejeira J, Roque L. Cognitive screening of older adults using serious games: An empirical study. Entertain Comput. 2018 Dec 1;28:11–20.

- 135. Robert PH, König A, Amieva H, Andrieu S, Bremond F, Bullock R, et al. Recommendations for the use of serious games in people with Alzheimer's disease, related disorders and frailty. Front Aging Neurosci. 2014 Mar 24;6(MAR):78241.
- 136. Bianchi-Berthouze N, Tentori M, Hoey J, Robert P, Schutter DB, Rikkert OM, et al. Recommendations for the Use of Serious Games in Neurodegenerative Disorders: 2016 Delphi Panel Serious Games in Neurodegenerative Disorders. 2017 [cited 2024 Jan 14];8. Available from: www.frontiersin.org
- 137. Chen YX, Liang N, Li XL, Yang SH, Wang YP, Shi NN. Diagnosis and Treatment for Mild Cognitive Impairment: A Systematic Review of Clinical Practice Guidelines and Consensus Statements. Vol. 12, Frontiers in Neurology. Frontiers Media S.A.; 2021.
- 138. Dawes P, Pye A, Reeves D, Yeung WK, Sheikh S, Thodi C, et al. Protocol for the development of versions of the Montreal Cognitive Assessment (MoCA) for people with hearing or vision impairment. BMJ Open. 2019 Mar 1;9(3).
- 139. Zygouris S, Giakoumis D, Votis K, Doumpoulakis S, Ntovas K, Segkouli S, et al. Can a virtual reality cognitive training application fulfill a dual role? Using the virtual supermarket cognitive training application as a screening tool for mild cognitive impairment. Journal of Alzheimer's Disease. 2015;44(4):1333–47.
- 140. Gielis K, Vanden Abeele ME, De Croon R, Dierick P, Ferreira-Brito F, Van Assche L, et al. Dissecting Digital Card Games to Yield Digital Biomarkers for the Assessment of Mild Cognitive Impairment: Methodological Approach and Exploratory Study. JMIR Serious Games [Internet]. 2021 Nov 4 [cited 2024 Jan 24];9(4):e18359. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/34734825
- 141. Eraslan Boz H, Limoncu H, Zygouris S, Tsolaki M, Giakoumis D, Votis K, et al. A new tool to assess amnestic mild cognitive impairment in Turkish older adults: virtual supermarket (VSM). Aging, Neuropsychology, and Cognition [Internet]. 2020 Sep 2 [cited 2023 Dec 28];27(5):639–53. Available from: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/13825585.2019.1663146
- 142. Zygouris S, Iliadou P, Lazarou E, Giakoumis Di, Votis K, Alexiadis A, et al. Detection of Mild Cognitive Impairment in an At-Risk Group of Older Adults: Can a Novel Self-Administered Serious Game-Based Screening Test Improve Diagnostic Accuracy? Journal of Alzheimer's Disease. 2020 Jan 1;78(1):405–12.
- 143. Valladares-Rodriguez S, Pérez-Rodriguez R, Fernandez-Iglesias JM, Anido-Rifón LE, Facal D, Rivas-Costa C. Learning to Detect Cognitive Impairment through Digital Games and Machine Learning Techniques. Methods Inf Med. 2018;57(4):197–207.

- 144. Chua SIL, Tan NC, Wong WT, Allen JC, Quah JHM, Malhotra R, et al. Virtual reality for screening of cognitive function in older persons: Comparative study. J Med Internet Res. 2019 Aug 1;21(8).
- 145. Bottiroli S, Bernini S, Cavallini E, Sinforiani E, Zucchella C, Pazzi S, et al. The Smart Aging Platform for Assessing Early Phases of Cognitive Impairment in Patients With Neurodegenerative Diseases. Front Psychol [Internet]. 2021 Mar 15 [cited 2024 Jan 23];12. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33790839/
- 146. Yan M, Yin H, Meng Q, Wang S, Ding Y, Li G, et al. A Virtual Supermarket Program for the Screening of Mild Cognitive Impairment in Older Adults: Diagnostic Accuracy Study. JMIR Serious Games [Internet]. 2021 Oct 1 [cited 2024 Jan 28];9(4). Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/34870610/
- 147. Bonnechère B, Fabris C, Bier JC, Van Sint Jan S, Feipel V, Jansen B. Evaluation of cognitive functions of aged patients using video games. In: ACM International Conference Proceeding Series. Association for Computing Machinery; 2016. p. 21–4.
- 148. Dorenkamp MA, Vik P. Neuropsychological assessment anxiety: A systematic review. Practice Innovations. 2018 Sep;3(3):192–211.
- 149. Werner P, Rabinowitz S, Klinger E, Korczyn AD, Josman N. Use of the virtual action planning supermarket for the diagnosis of mild cognitive impairment: a preliminary study. Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord [Internet]. 2009 Apr [cited 2023 Dec 28];27(4):301–9. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/19252401/
- 150. Wallace B, Goubran R, Knoefel F, Petriu M, McAvoy A. Design of games for measurement of cognitive impairment. 2014 IEEE-EMBS International Conference on Biomedical and Health Informatics, BHI 2014. 2014;117–20.
- 151. Bujang MA, Sa'At N, Tg Abu Bakar Sidik TMI, Lim CJ. Sample Size Guidelines for Logistic Regression from Observational Studies with Large Population: Emphasis on the Accuracy Between Statistics and Parameters Based on Real Life Clinical Data. Malays J Med Sci [Internet]. 2018 Aug 1 [cited 2024 Jul 18];25(4):122. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC6422534/
- 152. Brooke J. SUS: A "Quick and Dirty" Usability Scale. Usability Evaluation In Industry [Internet]. 1996 Jun 11 [cited 2024 Jul 30];207–12. Available from: https://www.taylorfrancis.com/chapters/edit/10.1201/9781498710411-35/sus-quick-dirty-usability-scale-john-brooke
- 153. Spielberger CD. State-trait anxiety inventory: a comprehensive bibliography. 2nd ed. Palo Alto: Consulting Psychologists Press; 1989.

- 154. Spielberger CD, Sydeman SJ, Owen AE, Marsh BJ. Measuring anxiety and anger with the State-Trait Anxiety Inventory (STAI) and the State-Trait Anger Expression Inventory (STAXI). In: Maruish ME, editor. e use of psychological testing for treatment planning and outcomes assessment . 2nd ed. Lawrence Erlbaum Associates Publishers.; 1999. p. 993–1021.
- 155. Portney LG. Foundations of Clinical Research, Applications to Evidence-Based Practice. 4th ed. Vol. 4 edition. F.A. Davis; 2020.
- 156. Hajian-Tilaki K. Receiver Operating Characteristic (ROC) Curve Analysis for Medical Diagnostic Test Evaluation. Caspian J Intern Med. 2013;4(2):627–35.
- 157. Kleinbaum DG, Klein M. Logistic Regression A Self-Learning Text Third Edition [Internet]. Available from: http://www.springer.com/series/2848
- 158. Sperandei S. Understanding logistic regression analysis. Biochem Med (Zagreb) [Internet]. 2014 [cited 2024 Jul 30];24(1):12–8. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/24627710/
- 159. Dziuban CD, Shirkey EC. When is a correlation matrix appropriate for factor analysis? Some decision rules. Psychol Bull. 1974 Jun;81(6):358–61.
- 160. Meurer WJ, Tolles J. Logistic Regression Diagnostics Understanding How Well a Model Predicts Outcomes Clinical Review & Education JAMA Guide to Statistics and Methods. JAMA March. 2017;14(10).
- 161. BangorAaron, KortumPhilip, MillerJames. Determining what individual SUS scores mean. J Usability Stud [Internet]. 2009 May 1 [cited 2024 Jul 30]; Available from: https://dl.acm.org/doi/10.5555/2835587.2835589
- 162. Liu L, Daum C, Miguel Cruz A, Neubauer N, Ríos Rincón A. Autonomy and Independence Aging in an Era of Technology Synthesis Lectures on Technology and Health. Morgan & Claypool; 2022.
- 163. Delane Williams J, Klug MG. Experimental Aging Research Aging and cognition: Methodological differences in outcome. 2007 [cited 2024 Jan 31]; Available from: https://www.tandfonline.com/action/journalInformation?journalCode=uear20
- 164. Minder CE, Müller T, Gillmann G, Beck JC, Stuck AE. Subgroups of Refusers in a Disability Prevention Trial in Older Adults: Baseline and Follow-Up Analysis. https://doi.org/102105/AJPH923445 [Internet]. 2011 Oct 10 [cited 2024 Jan 31];92(3):445–50. Available from: https://ajph.aphapublications.org/doi/10.2105/AJPH.92.3.445

165. Ford JG, Howerton MW, Lai GY, Gary TL, Bolen S, Chris Gibbons M, et al. Barriers to Recruiting Underrepresented Populations to Cancer Clinical Trials: A Systematic Review. [cited 2024 Jan 31]; Available from: https://acsjournals.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/cncr.23157